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Vision 
Box Hill Institute will be recognised as Australia’s no. 1 global vocational education and 
training provider.

Mission 
Box Hill Institute exists to provide training and education to meet the workforce 
development needs of the communities we serve. This is achieved by developing the 
skills which enable students to participate and optimise opportunities in the employment 
market and which enable enterprises to be competitive, sustainable and successful in the 
marketplace.

Values
Box Hill Institute adopts the following values to underpin and guide its day-to-day activity 
and future development:

Integrity
We will operate ethically, reliably and honestly

Excellence
We will exceed expectations and strive to be the best we can be

Care and Respect
We will provide a caring and understanding environment, acknowledging each other’s 
individuality and differences

Differentiation
We will be leaders in our fields and create unique points of difference that set what we do 
apart from other education and training providers

Commitments
Box Hill Institute is committed to the following:

Students
Providing students with excellence in teaching, a positive learning environment and the 
opportunity to excel in the global employment market

Skills
Providing industry and the community with the highest skills which will develop capability 
and achieve global competitiveness

Staff
Promoting and attracting staff, nurturing leaders and encouraging excellence and a global 
outlook

Service
Service excellence in everything we do

VISIon, MISSIon anD ValuES 
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Box Hill Institute is one of Australia’s premier, multipurpose 
TAFE institutes that prides itself on its ability to deliver a 
broad range of vocational education and training services. 
In 2008 the Institute had more than 40,000 enrolments. 

Programs
The Institute offers more than 500 courses, including 
many that are delivered internationally and within industry, 
covering a range of Diplomas, Certificates, Associate 
Degrees and Degrees. 

Services
A range of services are provided by Box Hill Institute, 
including industry consultancy, skills recognition and 
employment services.

Campuses
Elgar Campus, 465 Elgar Road, Box Hill, Vic, 3128•	

nelson Campus, 853 Whitehorse Road, Box Hill,  •	
Vic, 3128

Whitehorse Campus, 1000 Whitehorse Road, Box Hill,  •	
Vic, 3128

Ceylon Campus, 30 – 32 Ceylon Street, nunawading,  •	
Vic, 3131

Automotive, Pre-vocational Studies - 77A Lexton Road,  •	
Box Hill, Vic, 3128

Specialist Centres
Specialist Centre for Biotechnology Training, BioSkills•	

Specialist Centre for Services for Small to Medium •	
Enterprises

Specialist Centre for Information and Communications  •	
Technology

Training workplaces include:
Fountains Restaurant•	

Flowers on Elgar•	

Pets on Elgar•	

Salon on Elgar•	

Centre for Excellence in Bakery Training•	

Aveda Day Spa•	

Lighting and Sound Hire (LASH)•	

Industrial Skills Centre (Building, Automotive and •	
Engineering)

InnovaBio student-run biotechnology enterprise•	

Music Industry Business Office (MiBO)•	

Whitehorse Fitness Club•	

House for Homeless Youth•	

History
Box Hill College of Technical and Further Education (TAFE) 
was established by an Order in Council dated 25 January 
1984, under the Victorian post-Secondary Education act 
1978, following an amalgamation with the Whitehorse 
College of TAFE.

The Governor in Council approved orders changing the 
name of Box Hill College of TAFE to Box Hill Institute of 
TAFE on 12 September 1995.

The functions, powers and duties of the Institute are set out 
in the Vocational Education and training act 1990 and the 
Constitution of the Council of the Box Hill Institute of TAFE.

The relevant Minister is:
The Honourable Jacinta Allan MP 
Minister for Skills and Workforce Participation

EStablIShMEnt
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Education Alliances 
The Institute has a range of educational partners including:

Global Education network (GEn): Institute of Technical Education, Singapore;  •	
Kirkwood Community College, uSA; Southern Alberta Institute of Technology, Canada

SEnAC university (Sao Paulo) and SEnAC Polytechnic (Rio De Janeiro), Brazil•	

Monash university•	

Deakin university•	

Bendigo Regional Institute of TAFE•	

Gordon Institute of TAFE•	

South West Institute of TAFE•	

Trans-National Offshore Delivery
The Institute delivers in many countries. Some examples 
include: 

Australia Pacific Technical College, Vanuatu, Fiji and •	
Samoa

Box Hill College Kuwait•	

Central university of Finance and Economics, China•	

DuOC, Chile•	

Fundacion universita Catholic Del norte (FuCA), •	
Columbia, South America

Guangdong  Food and Drug Vocational College, China•	

Guangzhou university, College of Textile and Garment, •	
China

Hanoi Open university, Vietnam•	

Hong Lam College, Vietnam•	

Hubei Communications Technical College, China•	

Hunan Foreign Economic Relations and Trade College, •	
China

Jiangsu Provincial xuZHOu Pharmaceutical Vocational  •	
College,  China

KOTO (Know One Teach One), Vietnam•	

new Zealand Pacific Training Centre, Fiji•	

Shanghai Dian Ji university, China•	

Shanghai Pharmaceutical College, China•	

Suzhou Foreign Language School, China•	

Wuxi City College of Vocational Technology, China•	

xiangfan university, China•	

xinxiang university Scientific Research and Foreign •	
Affairs Division, China

Zhejiang Institute of Mechanical and Electrical •	
Engineering, ChinaHigh quality information systems 
infrastructure

paRtnERShIpS
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training in the Maldives
The Institute was appointed as education partner for the 
first training resort in Maldives at Laamu Atoll.

the australian Defence Force
The Institute signed a multi-million dollar Defence Tender 
contract for the delivery of Australia-wide Communication, 
Information Systems, Technology, Education and Training 
(CISTET) to the Defence Force School of Signals (DFSS).

taC
The Transport Accident Commission awarded Box Hill 
Institute preferred provider status with a three-year 
contract.

bunnings
Bunnings Australia and the Institute commenced a pilot for 
2008 to facilitate training for all retail trade assistants with 
the intent to implement a national roll out.

Singapore Workforce Development agency
With the Singapore Workforce Development Agency we 
completed the development of the Process Industry Training 
Framework, involving extensive industry consultation to 
develop over 660 competency standards.

Jobs plus
Our Apprenticeship Centre received 100% on audit – a result 
that has never been achieved before by any Australian 
Apprenticeship Centre.

Skills Store
The Eastern Melbourne Skills Store at Whitehorse campus, 
operating jointly with MEGT in a shop-front on Whitehorse 
Road, was officially opened, providing a crucial resource 
as part of the State Government agenda for meeting skills 
shortages.

new degree programs
Several new Bachelor and Associate Degree programs 
were successfully introduced. 

City of Manningham
The Institute signed a Memorandum of understanding 
with the City of Manningham covering a number of areas 
of mutual benefit, including business opportunities, staff 
development, potential staff exchanges and involvement by 
some Manningham Council staff on curriculum advisory 
committees.

health and Wellbeing hub
Work commenced on the new building 5 at Elgar Road 
campus, which will house the state-of-the-art nursing 
Skills Centre of Excellence and the Aveda Institute, as part 
of the Health and Wellbeing Hub.

2008 hIghlIghtS anD  
aChIEVEMEntS

Achievements
Box Hill Institute recorded some notable achievements in 
2008, including:
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aWaRDS

2008 was also a successful year for awards. 

Minister’s award
Jobs Plus Apprenticeship Services at Box Hill Institute won a Minister’s Award for Outstanding 
Achievement for Support Services to Crown Melbourne, at a special awards dinner. The award was 
presented by the Deputy Prime Minister Julia Gillard.

Sparta awards
The Institute was named Victorian Training Provider of the Year for Sport and Recreation, Arts and 
Culture at the SpArta Awards.

governor’s Export award – Education Category
The Institute was recognised for the third consecutive year in the Governor of Victoria Export Awards, 
winning the 2008 Commendee – Education and Training.

Victorian training awards
Box Hill Institute was a finalist in the Victorian Training Awards Large Training Provider of the Year 
category.

australian taFE Marketing awards
Box Hill Institute won the top award in two categories of the 
Australian TAFE Marketing Association Awards.

Whitehorse business group Excellence in 
business awards 
Box Hill Institute won the Yarra Valley Water Award for 
Excellence in a Large Business. This is the fifth win in 
this category and it is of particular significance because 
it acknowledges the key role the Institute plays within the 
Whitehorse Community.

nIppa awards
BHI Digital Print Services secured the Outstanding 
Business Innovation award at the network of In-house Print 
Professionals Australasia Awards ceremony. 

VICtaS awards
Peta Birch was the Winner of the Picture Framing category 
at the VICTAS Furnishing Awards

premier awards 
Amy Lovett was recognised at the Premier Awards in April 
2008 as the top Certificate II Equine Studies student in the 
state.

World Skills
Stuart Perriman, a Box Hill VET in Schools (VETiS) 
student from Ashwood College studying carpentry in year 

11, won a gold medal at the Victorian VETiS/TAFE state wide 
challenge, auspiced and sponsored through World Skills 
Australia. 

Cabinet Maker of the Year awards
Ben Philips won Best Employer Sponsored Apprentice and 
Michael Oxley won Best Final Year Apprentice at the 2008 
Cabinet Maker of the Year Awards.

hIa awards
At the HIA 2008 Apprenticeship Awards, Paul Pinkney (Box 
Hill Apprentice in 2007) was awarded overall Best HIA 
Apprentice and Best Stage Four Carpentry Apprentice.

James Blaney (Box Hill Apprentice) was winner of Stage Two 
Carpentry Apprentice.

Vermont lions access and Equity award
Kathryn Draper from the Certificate IV in Music 
Performance (Jazz/Popular) program was selected as 
the 2008 recipient of the Vermont Lions Access and Equity 
Award.

hairdressing, beauty Industry association 
awards 
Box Hill Institute’s Jason Mitchell won the HBIA’s 
hairdressing Second Year Apprenticeship Award.
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It has been a pleasure to lead the Box Hill Institute Board 
in 2008, as we embarked upon the first year of our 2008-
2012 Strategic Plan, and prepared to respond to the latest 
developments and challenges in education and training.

When we reflect on 2008, we will view it as a year of 
uncertainty and change – with economic upheaval on a 
global scale, and in our own backyard, and significant 
change in the VET sector with the announcement of the 
Victorian government’s new skills reform package.

These are uncertain times. However, one thing we can be 
certain about is that Box Hill Institute has continued to 
thrive, achieve, and work extremely hard in pursuit of our 
collective vision during the past 12 months.

When the climate is one of uncertainty, a consistent 
reputation for excellence is the best insurance. Box 
Hill Institute’s commitment to excellence has been 
demonstrated through a range of achievements, both in the 
public forum and behind the scenes. 

As a result, in 2008, I am pleased to report that we 
have maintained and enhanced our profile in the local 
community, nationally and internationally. The Institute 
relaunched itself in the marketplace with a refreshed 
branding that matches the contemporary and innovative 
approach to delivering education for which Box Hill 
has become known. This allowed the Institute to gain 
increased brand awareness in an increasingly crowded 
and competitive educational marketing environment and 
resulted in a significant increase in first preferences 
amongst the class of 2008.

Our commitment to excellence was recognised in the 
Victorian Training Awards, the Governor of Victoria Export 
Awards, and the Sport and Recreation, Arts and Culture 
Awards, while two of our service teams - Marketing and BHI 
Digital Print Services - were also acknowledged by their 
peers as the leaders in their field in 2008.

In addition to these awards, at Institute level many of 
our students and staff have won acknowledgement from 
Industry bodies, community organisations and the Institute 
itself for their leadership and skills. 

Box Hill Institute remains proud of its commitment to social 
responsibility and corporate citizenship. This was reflected 
with the highest acknowledgement at the Whitehorse 
Business Group’s Annual Excellence in Business Awards, 
and the amazing progress we have made with the House for 
Homeless Youth project, securing the funds for our second 
house.

Our commitment to meeting the skills agenda of the 
Victorian and Commonwealth Governments was 
also reflected in the achievements of our Jobs Plus 
Apprenticeship Centre and the ongoing work of the Eastern 
Melbourne Skills Store.

For the Board, it has been an interesting year, and there are 
numerous challenges ahead, but also tremendous rewards 
as we progress towards the realisation of our Strategic Plan 
and the enhancement of Box Hill Institute’s reputation as a 
centre of learning excellence.

ChaIR’S REpoRt

associate professor John Rasa 
Chair, Box Hill Institute Board
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On behalf of the Board I would like to thank our staff 
who have worked collaboratively to ensure Box Hill had 
another outstanding year in terms of student outcomes and 
commercial success.

I would also like also to thank John Maddock and the Senior 
Management Team for their outstanding commitment and 
for their work in making our current Strategic Plan a reality.

I sincerely thank my fellow Board members who so 
generously give their time and skills to the Institute. Their 
contribution has happened in many ways:

In preparing for and contributing at Board meetings and 
Board Committee meetings

Attending as usual, many graduation and awards nights and 
other Institute functions

Participating once again in the evaluation and selection 
process for the Staff Awards and Recognition program

And in many other ways which are not always visible

I mentioned the changing economic and educational 
landscape, and these factors very much informed the 
Board’s Planning Day this year. 

The Board toured the main campuses and members were 
briefed about the external influences on the Institute. We 
also looked at the State and Commonwealth Skills reform 
and the changes this process will bring. 

We examined the impact the reform package will have on 
our future funding models and the potential impact on our 
planning.

With these changes in mind, we will maintain our focus 
in the next five years on the development of our people, 
leadership capability within the Institute, and on our ability 
to respond effectively and flexibly to the needs of industry, 
our students and customers. 

Of course, campus development plays a significant role in 
our ability to provide excellent working and learning places 
for our staff and students, and we look forward with great 
interest to the unfolding of the Institute Master Plan and 
particularly the completion of the Health and Wellbeing Hub 
which commenced construction in 2008.

On behalf the Institute Board, I look forward to our 
continuing pursuit of excellence as we meet the challenges 
that lay ahead in 2009.

associate professor John Rasa 
Chair, Box Hill Institute Board
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2008 began with the bedding down of our five-year Strategic 
Plan during a time of unprecedented change in the 
educational environment. 

2008 will be remembered as the year when Governments, 
both Commonwealth and State, initiated significant reform 
to the VET system. The Victorian Government announced 
its intention to introduce reforms including a contestability 
model for funding. At the Commonwealth level, the 
“Bradley Review” of Tertiary Education also required 
attention. In addition, reforms adopted by the Council of 
Australian Governments during the year have the potential 
to have significant impacts on the Institute. The Institute 
prepared submissions to both State and Commonwealth 
Governments on these important reforms. 

Whatever the future holds, our continued success in an 
increasingly competitive marketplace relies on our ability to 
deliver the highest quality training and service products.

As such, our vision to be Australia’s number one global 
vocational education and training provider becomes ever 
more important. During the year, the Institute produced an 
innovation framework which focused on looking at ways in 
which a culture of innovation could be further embedded 
across the Institute. Development of the plan involved 
extensive staff input as well as consultation with a wide 
range of external stakeholders. 

2008 was another remarkable year for Box Hill Institute 
and I can only thank our staff and students for their efforts. 
It was highly satisfying to note the outstanding record 
of achievement against the Institute’s key performance 
indicators. 

Student enrolments in 2008 exceeded 40,000 for the second 
year in a row and total student contact hour delivery was 
more than 8.6 million. It was pleasing to note that the 
growth in delivery in 2007 which took us to a new level was 
maintained in 2008.

During the year the Institute continued to refine and revise 
the business case for the establishment of a new Creative 
Industries Hub and a new Trade Skills Centre. As a result, 
a submission was lodged with the Victorian Government for 
funding.

Construction commenced on building 5 at Elgar campus 
which will house the Health and Wellbeing Hub comprising 
the nursing Skills Centre of Excellence and the Aveda 
Institute Melbourne. We thank Minister Allan for presiding 
over the official sod-turning ceremony. 

The passion and commitment of our staff was demonstrated 
by a string of highlights for the year. Box Hill Institute 
students have yet again excelled in various fields during 
the year. It must be said however, that none of their 
achievements would have been possible without the 
dedication and support from our teachers, the support and 
administrative staff across the Institute, who are continually 
coordinating and motivating the students to extend 
themselves for excellence in their educational pursuits.

2008 has also seen the Institute achieve excellence in a 
number of areas, with awards acknowledging the fantastic 
efforts of many staff across the Institute. Collectively, 
we were once again recognized in the Victorian Training 
Awards, the Governor of Victoria Export Awards, and the 
Whitehorse Business Group Excellence in Business Awards. 
We won awards for Our Jobs Plus Apprenticeship Services, 
Marketing and Customer Service, Sport and Recreation, 
Arts and Culture and BHI Digital Print Services. 

CEo’S REpoRt

John Maddock 
Chief Executive Officer
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The Global Education network (GEn), continued its growth, 
with students and staff participating in international 
exchange programs throughout the year.  

Our reputation for delivery of training and project 
management off-shore continued to grow. We were 
appointed as education partner for the first ever training 
resort in Maldives at Laamu Atoll, following on from our 
previous work with Venetian Sands in Macau.

In our off-shore campuses, Box Hill Institute enrolments 
continued to grow. Our extended campus partner Box Hill 
College Kuwait commenced mainstream operations with 
Kuwaiti women starting courses in Information Technology, 
Business, Graphic Design and Interior Design. 

The Institute also won a lucrative AusAid funded contract 
to deliver an innovative Certificate IV in Training and 
Assessment course for senior managers of the Directorate 
of Taxation, Indonesia. This is the second project under this 
funding stream the Institute has won. 

2008 marked the official launch of the Australian Pacific 
Technical College in Apia, Samoa. During the year we signed 
a multi-million dollar extension to the project over the next 
three years, with the implementation of the Certificate III in 
Children’s Services in Fiji and Vanuatu in August.

At a local level, this year we continued to implement major 
initiatives to expand our range of service offerings and to 
foster and maintain significant, lasting partnerships with 
industry. These included our work with the Australian 
Defence Force, TAC, Bunnings Australia, and our 
fundraising work with the House for Homeless Youth 
project. Once again, we enjoyed considerable support from 
industry and community leaders as well as our sponsors 
during 2008. 

A focus in 2008 was on working with our staff to ensure 
that they continued to enhance their skills through 
professional development opportunities. Work began on the 
implementation of the Institute’s Leadership Development 
Program and a range of other professional development 
initiatives including a number of staff continuing their study 
towards a Masters qualification. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all members of 
the Board for their dedication, focus and hard work. Their 
input is all voluntary and involves a huge commitment, 
providing excellence in governance, stewardship and advice. 
I would give a special mention to John Rasa, our Chairman, 
for his leadership of the Board and the Board Executive 
team and thank him for his personal support in my role as 
CEO. 

This year has involved much hard work planning our 
response to the changing educational and commercial 
landscape. It would not have been possible without 
the support of our employees. Their dedication to their 
profession and to the wellbeing of students is fundamental 
to the success of the Institute and I would like to publicly 
thank them for their enormous efforts during 2008. We 
look forward to 2009 as we enter the beginning of the new 
contestable environment with a sense of excitement and 
readiness for all the challenges and opportunities that lie 
ahead.

John Maddock 
Chief Executive Officer 
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KpI 2008 
achievement

2007 
achievement

Strategic alignment

Participation of 15-24 year olds 
number of students within the age group.

19,654 20,102

Participation of 25-64 year olds 
number of students within the age group.

16,849 15,904

training outcomes

Module Load Completion Rate 
Scheduled hours assessed and passed or satisfactorily completed 
/ total scheduled hours reported less hours recorded with credit 
transfer and continuing studies outcomes.

77.6% 76.60%

Student Satisfaction 
Proportion of graduates satisfied with the overall quality of training.

83.6% 87.30% 

Financial Management

Total Cost per Student Contact Hour (SCH) 
Total funded expenditure (excluding depreciation) / total SCH.

$12.27 $11.05

Working Capital Ratio 
Current assets / current liabilities (adjusted for non-current LSL).

3.53  3.04

net Operating Margin 
Funded operating surplus / total revenue (excl capital).

7.50% 8.70%

Fee for Service Revenue 
Fee for service revenue / total revenue (%).

33.41% 29.82%

organisational Management

Revenue per EFT Staff 
Total revenue (excl capital) / average EFT staff.

$121,416 $110,350

Student Contact Hours 
Total number of student contact hours delivered against contracted 
delivery.

8,647,262 8,553,181

Environment

Energy Consumption 
Percentage reduction in energy consumption for electricity, gas, LPG, 
green power and heating oil.

6.31% reduction in 
energy consumption 
for electricity and 
18.30% reduction for 
gas. 71.37% increase 
in purchase of Green 
energy

18% reduction in 
energy consumption 
for electricity. 43.5% 
increase in purchase 
of Green energy. A 
reduction of 46.5 
tonnes of CO2 through 
mechanical plant 
upgrade

pERFoRManCE taRgEtS
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Box Hill Institute is governed by a Board that is representative of 
industry and community. 

The role of the Board is to establish the Institute’s strategic 
direction, oversee and ensure the effective and efficient 
management of the Institute, approve management plans, and 
ensure that the community is serviced effectively with technical 
and further education programs which are responsive to its needs.

The Board is committed to the adoption of ethical conduct in all 
areas of its responsibilities and authority. In so doing, it binds 
its members to the principles and practices determined in the 
Board’s Governance Protocol.

The Board is ultimately responsible to the Victorian government 
for the governance and management of the Institute.

goVERnanCE

As part of sound corporate governance practice, and to 
assist the Board in meeting its constitutional duties, there 
are three subcommittees. These are:

Board Executive Committee•	

Audit, Finance and Risk Committee•	

Board Remuneration Committee•	

Project Control Group (Ad-hoc Committee)•	

Board Executive Committee•	

The Board Executive Committee acts on behalf of the Board 
as a reference point on urgent matters which may arise 
between Board meetings, and to focus appropriate attention 
on the selection and appointment of Board members.

audit, Finance & Risk Committee
The objectives of the Audit, Finance & Risk Committee are 
to provide independent assurance and assistance to the 
Board on the Institute’s control and compliance framework 
and its external accountability responsibilities.

board Remuneration Committee
The Board Remuneration Committee assists the Board 
in ensuring that the Institute’s policy and practice for 
Board member and Executive Officer remuneration are 
appropriate and consistent with the requirements 

Victorian Government policy. These policies relate to 
the Remuneration of Directors of TAFE Institute Boards, 
Executive Remuneration for Government Business 
Enterprises and Statutory Authorities, Ministerial 
Guidelines relating to Executive remuneration and 
instructions from the Government Sector Executive 
Remuneration Panel (GSERP).

project Control group (ad-hoc board 
Committee)
The Project Control Group monitors the delivery of building 
capital projects as nominated by the Board which are 
included in the approved Institute Building Capital Project 
Program. It reviews progress against program and budget, 
and provides advice to the Board/Board Executive of the Box 
Hill Institute of Technical and Further Education regarding 
the status of the program. 

board and Committee Memberships
The following highlights the Institute’s Board members 
and the number of meetings attended during 2008 and 
committee membership.

CoMMIttEES
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name type of 
appointment

board 
Meetings

Executive 
Committee

audit, Risk 
& Finance 

Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

project 
Control group

Philip Belcher 
Vice Chair

Co-opted 
Appointment

9/9 x x x

Helen 
Buckingham

Ministerial 
Appointment

0/1

noelene Duff
Ministerial 

Appointment
5/7 x

Tashya 
Hettiarachchi

Student 
Representative 

Appointed 
12/5/08

2/6

Fergus Hudson

Staff 
Representative 

Appointed 
1/7/07

8/9

Christine 
Kilmartin

Co-opted 
Appointment

8/9 x

Christopher 
Lobb

Ministerial 
Appointment

6/7 x Chair x

John Maddock 
CEO

Ex-Officio 9/9 x x x

Associate 
Professor John 

Rasa 
President

Ministerial 
Appointment

9/9 x Chair x x Chair x

Douglas Sanders

Student 
Representative 

appointed 
24/4/07

0/3

Bruce Thompson
Co-opted 

Appointment
8/9

Glen Walker
Ministerial 

Appointment
7/9 x

Elizabeth White 
Vice Chair

Ministerial 
Appointment

5/6 x x x x Chair
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associate professor John Rasa is Director of The Edge 
Management Consulting and Australian Centre for 
Leadership Development in Melbourne. John has had 
extensive experience in the health services industry and 
has held CEO positions including Box Hill Hospital, and 
three nSW Area Health Services. He served as Professor 
of Health Services Management at Charles Sturt university 
for three years and currently serves on a range of Health 
Services Committees. John serves on the State Branch 
Council of the Australian College of Health Service 
Executives. John holds a Bachelor of Arts (Clinical Psych), 
a Diploma in Industrial Law & Industrial Relations, Masters 
Degree in Health Planning, Member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors and Fellow of ACHSE, AIM 
and AHRI.

Ms Elizabeth White is the Chief Executive of the Victorian 
Canine Association, which is the peak body for owners of 
pure-breed dogs. The VCA manages the pedigree register 
and promotes responsible dog ownership within the 
community. She has previously held corporate positions 
within the association management sector and has a 
background in education administration. Elizabeth holds 
teaching qualifications, a Bachelor of Arts and a Masters in 
Education.

Mr John Maddock has been CEO of Box Hill Institute since 
1999. Prior to this, John was CEO of Gordon Institute and 
during his career has held a variety of management roles 
in the TAFE sector. Before starting his career in education, 
John was employed by one of the big six accounting firms, 
Arthur Andersen & Co. working in the business consultancy 
area. 

John has been involved in many leadership roles across 
Vocational Education and Training (VET) in Victoria and 
Australia. They range from his position as Deputy Chair of 
the Victorian Tertiary Admissions Centre (VTAC), Member of 
the Victorian Curriculum & Assessment Authority, Member 
of Deakin university Council for past six years and a Board 
Member of the Innovation and Business Skills Australia 
Board. He serves or is a member of a number of groups 
including Singapore’s ITE Quality Assurance Framework 
(IQAF) External Review panel member, Board Member of 
Box Hill College Kuwait, an Executive Committee member 
- Post Secondary International network of Presidents 
of Community Colleges (PIn) immediate past President, 
Chairs the Global Education network, Trustee to the 
Director for the Committee for Economic Development of 
Australia, Member of the Australian Society of Training and 
Development, Member of the American Society of Training 
and Development and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

boaRD pRoFIlES

John Maddock

John Rasa
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Mr philip belcher is CEO of PMPartners Group, a leading 
Australian project services company. Philip has held 
various managing director and board positions as the 
culmination of his extensive career in general management 
and sales leadership within the Information Technology and 
Telecommunications sector. Philip holds an MBA, tertiary 
qualifications in Technology (Electronics) and is a Fellow of 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Mr Fergus hudson is a long-standing teacher at Box Hill 
Institute and is the elected staff Board member. Fergus has 
had significant industrial experience in various countries 
and holds teaching qualifications and an Arts Degree 
(Hons). He is also a Council member of the AEu Vic Branch. 

Ms Christine Kilmartin is employed by the Victorian 
Department of Planning and Community Development 
where she manages a research unit looking at issues of 
sustainability and community development. She worked 
previously at the Department of Sustainability and 
Environment. She also contributes to initiatives to maintain 
viable communities and is President of a Landcare group. 
Christine holds a degree in Social Studies.

Mr bruce thompson is a director of SMS Management 
and Technology Limited.  He is the former Chairman and 
Managing Director of Hewlett Packard Australia and new 
Zealand and he worked with Hewlett Packard for 32 years in 
Australia and overseas until his retirement in August 2000. 
He retired as Chairman of Innovonics Ltd in January 2005 
and as Managing Director and CEO of Keycorp Limited in 
June 2006. Bruce also served as Trustee of the Melbourne 
Cricket Ground Trust from 1998 to 2007 and on a number of 
boards and industry associations, including the Business 
Council of Australia from 1995 to 2000. Bruce is a graduate 

of Monash university with a Bachelor of Economics degree, 
a Fellow of the Australian Society of Certified Practising 
Accountants, a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and a Graduate of the Wharton and Melbourne 
Business Schools Advanced Management Programs.

Mr Chris lobb is Company Secretary of Colonial First 
State Property Management, a property management and 
development company with a focus on retail properties. 
Chris has a background in finance, corporate governance 
and corporate administration. Chris chairs the Board’s 
Audit Committee and is a member of the Project Control 
Group. Chris holds a Bachelor of Business (Accounting) and 
is a member of various professional and community bodies.

Ms noelene Duff is the CEO of the City of Whitehorse and 
has had extensive experience at a senior management level 
in State and Local Government and the non-government 
sector. She has a very strong commitment to community 
issues and community policy and strong and extensive 
connections with networks in the local community, the Box 
Hill area, and the south-eastern suburbs of Melbourne. 
noelene has significant experience and a strong interest 
in governance, and strong financial skills. noelene is the 
Immediate Past President of Local Government Managers 
Australia where she played a key role at State and national 
levels in advocating key issues on behalf of the local 
government sector. She holds a Bachelor of Arts, Bachelor 
of Social Work, Graduate Diploma Business and Masters of 
Business degrees and is a Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors and a Fellow of the Institute of Public 
Affairs Australia.
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Mr glen Walker has worked in a variety or senior 
management roles in the automotive industry in a career 
spanning 20 years. He is currently General Manager, 
Manufacturing, MaxiTRAnS Industries, a large Australian 
public company and the largest manufacturer and supplier 
of trailing equipment to the transport industry. Glen has 
detailed industry knowledge and links particularly in the 
advanced manufacturing industry, an important industry 
sector for the Institute. In his work roles he has employed 
hundreds of graduates, trades-people and semi-skilled 
labourers and as such is aware of how the Institute can 
help prepare its graduates for such employment. Glen has 
a broad network of contacts in a variety of spheres and 
governance experience from a number of advisory boards 
and committees. Prior to joining the Board, Glen served on 
the Board’s Audit Committee as an independent member 
co-opted by the Board.

Ms tashya hettiarachchi is the Student Representative 
to the Board, she holds a Certificate three in Children’s 
Services, and is currently in the final year of her Diploma at 
Box Hill TAFE. An International student from Sri Lanka who 
is also a three-time Latin American Dance Champion in her 
country, her goal is to study to the highest level possible 
in the child care field. She works at a child care centre 
in Vermont, caring for children of all ages and has much 
experience working with children of different age groups 
and abilities.

board training
All Board members received a range of regular publications 
and updates from professional associations and other 
advisory bodies highlighting changes in legislation and 
best practice, such as bi-monthly Australian Institute 
of Company Directors (AICD) Boardroom Reports and 
Executive Summaries of leading management and 
leadership texts.

A number of Directors undertook additional professional 
development activities in a range of areas relevant to their 
role at the Institute, such as risk management. Several 
attended the Australian Institute of Company Directors 
Conference and various professional development sessions.

Directors of box hill Enterprises ltd
The names and relevant details of the Directors in office at 
the date of this report are:

John Maddock (Managing Director) 

Philip Belcher

Fergus Hudson

Christine Kilmartin

John Rasa

Bruce Thompson

Elizabeth White

Chris Lobb

noelene Duff 
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY
Darrell Cain 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer/Chief Operating Officer

Scope of responsibilities:

Coordinating strategic initiatives, including industry •	
training plans across the Institute

Providing leadership and advice on corporate •	
governance

Ensuring that the Institute meets all Government •	
obligations and that opportunities for Government 
funding are maximised

Ensuring that the Institute complies with all significant  •	
statutory obligations deriving from relevant legislation 
and an ongoing process is in place to review compliance

Ensuring the Institute meets the requirements of the  •	
Whistleblowers Protection Act

performance agreement Responsibilities/
State and Commonwealth growth places –
The Institute achieved its Weighted Training Hour (WTH) 
delivery requirements under the 2008 Performance 
Agreement with the Victorian Skills Commission. under 
the Performance Agreement, the Institute was required to 
deliver a minimum of 4,628,525 WTHs and achieved actual 
delivery of 4,810,278 WTHs, which represents 103.2% of 
target. 

The Institute’s student management system (SMART) 
recorded 40,675 enrolments in 2008, comprising 40,170 VET 
enrolments and 505 Higher Education enrolments.

Total enrolments at Box Hill Institute over the past 10 years 
are shown in Chart A.

Enrolments under State Government funding, recurrent and 
non-recurrent, constituted 47.9 per cent of total enrolments 
compared with 46.5 per cent in 2007.

Vocational education and training (VET) student contact 
hours generated in 2008 were 8.46 million compared to 8.40 
million in 2007 and 7.59 million in 2006, an increase of 1.1 
per cent in 2008 and 10.6 per cent on 2007.

Total VET student contact hours at Box Hill Institute over the 
past 10 years are compared in Chart C.

The Government funded student contact hours delivery 
recorded were 4.91 million in 2008, compared to 4.72 million 
in 2007.

Government funded student contact hours amounted to 56.8 
per cent of student contact hours in the Institute in 2008.

Government funded student contact hours recorded 
comprised:

3,671,090 Government general profile, including off •	
campus delivery

1,241,921 Apprentice/Trainee hours•	

The remaining 3,734,252 SCH were generated through non-
recurrent funding.

The Institute participated in the TAFE Graduate Outcomes 
Survey 2008 (based on students who completed in 2007), 
which was managed by the national Centre for Vocational 
Education Research. Box Hill Institute graduates exceeded 
the State and national averages in employment outcomes, 
with 90.2 per cent of Box Hill graduates working or in 
further studies after 25 May 2008 compared to the national 
average of 88.9 per cent.

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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Strategic Initiatives
During 2008, work continued on the implementation of a 
number of industry training plans commissioned by the 
Institute. In particular, work began on the implementation 
of a Plan for the Health and Community Services Sector. In 
addition, development work began on an Industry Training 
Plan for the Creative Industries.

During the year, the Institute developed an Innovation 
Framework which focussed on looking at ways in which a 
culture of innovation could be further embedded across 
the Institute. Development of the Plan involved extensive 
consultation with both internal and external stakeholders 
and involved a wide range of staff from across the 
organisation. 

During 2008, the Institute continued to establish strong 
relationships with industry. A number of proposals involving 
cooperation between the Institute and industry partners 
were developed and were the basis of submissions to 
government for funding.

The Institute was actively involved in a number of 
significant policy issues during 2008. In particular, the 
Institute developed comprehensive submissions to the 
Review of TAFE Governance in Victoria, commissioned 
by Skills Victoria and to the Bradley Review of Higher 
Education and the Innovation Review both of which were 
commissioned by the Commonwealth Government. The 
Institute’s submissions reflected the directions outlined in 
the Strategic Plan and provided an Institute perspective on 
changes to governance and attitudes to TAFE necessary 

to ensure that the TAFE system generally, and within 
it, Box Hill Institute, were able to participate fully in the 
reform processes being considered by both State and 
Commonwealth Governments. 

During 2008 work began on the construction of the Health 
and Wellbeing Hub, comprising the nursing Skills Centre 
of Excellence and the Aveda Institute, Australia. The plans 
for these Centres reflect significant input from Institute 
staff, and our industry partners, Aveda, the Epworth 
Group, Eastern Health and Deakin university. The Institute 
was extremely grateful for the time devoted by these 
organisations to these important projects.

Finally, during 2008 the Institute began preparing 
its implementation plan in response to the Victoria 
Government’s Skills Reform package, due for 
implementation from July 2009. The Institute anticipates 
a significant change in the marketplace as a result of the 
introduction of contestable funding and considerable effort 
was involved in developing strategies to ensure that the 
changes proposed are of maximum benefit to our industry 
partners and students.
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Chart b: Comparison of 2006, 2007 and 2008 proportional distribution of enrolments by funding type

Chart a: box hill Institute – 10 year comparison of total enrolments

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
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Chart C: box hill Institute - 10 year Comparison of total Student Contact hours

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Chart D: Comparison of 2006, 2007 and 2008 proportional distribution of student contact 
hour delivery by funding type
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CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER
Joanne James 
Chief Finance Officer

Scope of responsibilities:

Ensuring that the Institute’s annual operating and •	
capital expenditure budgets and financial plans 
reflected the Institute’s strategic and management plan 
objectives and that resources were allocated to enable 
achievement of these objectives

Ensuring that revenue, expenditure and surplus targets •	
were achieved, liquidity ratios and investment balances 
were maintained at financially prudent levels and that 
the Institute’s investment in assets was maximised

Ensuring compliance with all relevant financial •	
management and other financial statutory requirements 
for Box Hill Institute of TAFE and Box Hill Enterprises 
Limited within an appropriate internal control and audit 
framework and as required by the Victorian Auditor 
General and the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee

Ensuring that the Institute’s commercial contracts, •	
development processes and procedures are in 
accordance with sound commercial principles and that 
a robust framework is in place for the management and 
monitoring of profitable trading arrangements

Contributing to the ongoing strategic planning of the •	
Institute and to ensure that the Institute’s key business 
processes are efficient, effective and best practice.

Ensuring compliance with all relevant non-financial •	
statutory requirements falling within the Chief Finance 
Officer’s portfolio

Ensuring that the Institute had an appropriate Risk •	
Management Framework to manage key risk areas and 
that there are processes in place to ensure continuous 
improvement, monitoring and review of the Institute’s 
Risk Management policies and procedures.

2008 Financial Results
For the year ending 31 December 2008, the Institute and its 
controlled entity, Box Hill Enterprises Limited, recorded a 
consolidated net operating result before capital grants and 
specific items1 of $8.622 million, (2007: $10.412 million). 
The Institute’s 2008 net operating result was lower than 
what was achieved for 2007. The decrease in net result was 
a strategic decision of the Board to increase the capacity of 
the Institute for positioning itself in the commercial market 
for the future.

Financial highlights for 2008 included:

A continuing increase in degree and associate degree •	
delivery

Strong performance in relation to the Institute’s •	
investment portfolio

The awarding of the tender for construction of the •	
Institute’s Health and Wellbeing Hub, and

Continuing strong surpluses contributing to further  •	
improvements in the Institute’s working capital and 
liquidity ratios

ExECutIVE REpoRtS

1 Operating result before government contributions – capital, depreciation and operating  
 expenditure from government contributions – capital.
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Summary of Significant Changes in Financial position during the Year

At 31 December 2008, current assets of $61.411 million represented an increase of 7.7 
per cent on total current assets recorded at 31 December 2007. The increase for 2008 
compared to previous year was due to cash flows generated from the 2008 trading 
results together with shortening maturity dates for financial assets previously held long 
term. 

non Current assets recorded comparable levels to 2007 with an increase of 1.7 per cent 
representing net acquisitions of plant and equipment during the year.

Current liabilities for 2008 recorded a net decrease 21 per cent as a result of the net 
impact of:

EBA provisions required for teaching staff, offset by•	

A reduction in payroll accruals reflecting the timing of the year end salary cycle, and•	

A reduction in revenue in advance for programs and projects enrolled or contracted •	
in 2008 and to be delivered during 2009

The net effect of the above changes was an increase in the consolidated entity’s working 
capital, adjusted for current long term employee provisions, from 3.03:1 in 2007 to a ratio 
of 3.50:1 as at 31 December 2008.

2 Included in other expenses prior to 1st January 2007.

3 From 1st January 2007, the Institute revised its capitalisation threshold for assets to $5,000.  
 In accordance with applicable accounting standards, only prior period comparatives for 2006  
 have been restated.

Five Year Consolidated Financial Summary

YEaR EnDED 31st. DECEMbER
2008

$’000

2007

$’000 

2006

$’000 

2005

$’000 

2004

$’000 

SuMMARY OF OPERATInG STATEMEnT PERFORMAnCE: 

REVEnuE FRoM ContInuIng opERatIonS

Government Contributions – Operating 60,154 56,987 53,413 51,154 46,835

Fee for Service 38,930 32,844 22,698 17,345 16,431

Other Revenue 15,594 13,660 18,228 11,203 10,817

total REVEnuE 114,678 103,491 94,339 79,702 74,083

ExpEnSES FRoM ContInuIng opERatIonS (106,614) (94,457) (80,583) (74,565) (71,122)

nEt RESult FRoM ContInuIng opERatIonS bEFoRE 
CapItal anD SpECIFIC ItEMS. 8,064 9,034 13,756 5,137 2,961

Government Contributions – Capital 5,160 6,795 5,956 2,180 6,698

Gain/(Loss) on disposal of non current assets2 (151) (153) - - -

Depreciation and Amortisation (3,660) (4,149) (3,927) (5,276) (4,040)

Expenditure using government contributions – capital3 (791) (1,115) (1,122) - -

nEt RESult FRoM ContInuIng opERatIonS FoR thE 
pERIoD 8,622 10,412 14,663 2,041 5,619
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Consultants number of 
Engagements

total 
Fees 
paid

particulars of projects involved
Estimated 
Future 
Commitments 

Solidity Pty Ltd 1 $258,667
Support, Development and Maintenance of QL-S 
Student System for the Statewide MIS Project

-

ndevr Pty Ltd 1 $342,025
Support, Development and Maintenance of QL-S 
Student System for the Statewide MIS Project

-

Lyons Architects 
Pty Ltd

1 $520,309
Architectural services related to the Institute’s 
Capital Works and Infrastructure Programs

$700,000

Wilde and Woollard 1 $145,809
Quantity Survey services related to the Institute’s 
Capital Works and Infrastructure Programs.

$300,000

Total Metrics 1 $146,700
Support, Development and Maintenance of QL-S 
Student System for the Statewide MIS Project

-

Plan Power Pty Ltd 1 $137,617
Support, Development and Maintenance of QL-S 
Student System for the Statewide MIS Project

-

Consultancies
Details of consultancies engaged during 2008 are as follows: 
Consultancies over $100,000

YEaR EnDED 31st. DECEMbER
2008

$’000

2007

$’000 

2006

$’000 

2005

$’000 

2004

$’000 

SuMMARY OF OPERATInG STATEMEnT PERFORMAnCE: 

Current Assets 61,411 57,011 40,902 22,531 31,225

non-Current Assets 133,307 131,077 153,504 156,090 129,587

total assets 194,718 188,088 194,406 178,621 160,812

Current Liabilities – Due Within 12 Months 17,367 18,775 15,143 12,305 11,275

Current Liabilities – Due longer than 12 
Months

7,556 8,731 7,769 6,915 7,590

non-current Liabilities 2,877 2,286 2,240 2,401 2,362

nEt aSSEtS 166,918 158,296 169,254 157,000 139,585

Equity:

Accumulated Surplus 50,532 43,910 33,498 17,553 18,212

Reserves 89,262 87,262 108,632 112,323 94,249

Contributed Capital 27,124 27,124 27,124 27,124 27,124

total EQuItY 166,918 158,296 169,254 157,000 139,585

WoRKIng CapItal RatIo aDJuStED 
FoR CuRREnt long tERM lIabIlItIES 3.50 3.03 2.70 1.83 2.77

Compulsory Student Services and amenities Fee
The Institute levies a compulsory student services and amenities fee that is determined in accordance with the Ministerial 
Directions on Students Fees and Charges.

Statement Details

Total Student Services and Amenities Fees 
Collected for year ending 31st December 2008 $692,887

Purpose for which the services and amenities 
fees are applied

The services and amenities fee is managed by the Institute’s Student 
Services and Support Centre. 
The fee is fully applied to the provision of funding for student recreation, 
counselling and welfare and other non-academic support services.
The collection and disbursement of the services and amenities fees are 
fully managed by the Institute and are not paid to any student organisations.
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number of Engagements 88

Total Fees Incurred $1,145,226

Consultancies under $100,000
These engagements relate to various consultants primarily engaged for the provision of architectural, 
quantity surveyor and design services related to the Institute’s building works program, strategic 
initiatives in biotechnology, nursing and various Information Technology related consultancies. 

Statements of pecuniary Interests
The Institute has in place policies and procedures that 
require relevant officers to complete Statements of 
Pecuniary Interests on an annual basis. All such statements 
have been duly completed. 

Information about declarations of pecuniary interests by all 
relevant officers should be directed to:

the Freedom of Information officer 
box hill Institute of taFE 
465 Elgar Road, 
box hill 3128  
telephone: (03) 9286 9222

Details of Shares held by Senior officers 
Requests for information about shares held by senior 
officers, as nominee or held beneficially in a statutory 
authority or subsidiary, if any, should be directed to:

the Freedom of Information officer 
box hill Institute of taFE 
465 Elgar Road, 
box hill 3128  
telephone: (03) 9286 9222

national Competition policy
The Institute has in place policies and procedures to ensure 
compliance with the national Competition Policy which 
take into account Victorian Government’s “Competitive 
neutrality: A Statement of Victorian Policy” requirements. 
The Institute’s national Competition Policy and Manual is 
reviewed on a regular basis in accordance with the Institute 
Board’s policy review schedule and commitment to the 
Institute’s continuous improvement processes.

other Relevant Information
Consistent with the requirements of the Financial 
Management Act 1994, Box Hill Institute has prepared 
material on the following items, details of which are 
available on request and in accordance with the Institute’s 
Freedom of Information Policies:

Changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and levies•	

Major external reviews•	

Major research and development activities•	

Overseas visits undertaken•	

Publications•	

Occupational health and safety assessments and •	
measures

Industrial relations issues and•	

Major committees sponsored by Box Hill Institute.•	

Enquires should be addressed to

the Freedom of Information officer 
box hill Institute 
465 Elgar Road, 
box hill 3128  
telephone: (03) 9286 9222

Risk Management
As part of its annual Risk Management program and commitment to continuous improvement, the 
Institute undertakes an annual review of its Risk Management Policy and Risk Management Plan 
to ensure that the Institute’s risk management framework continues to appropriately support the 
Institute’s operations.

The Institute also critically assesses key strategic and operational risk areas during the year and 
ensures that there are appropriate risk management strategies in place to manage any emerging risks 
or opportunities. A risk management attestation statement was made by the Chief Executive Officer 
on approval by the Institute’s Audit Finance and Risk Committee and this statement is contained in the 
Institute’s report on operations.
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SENIOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
John Italiano 
Senior Executive Director/Chief Information Officer

Scope of responsibilities:

Providing leadership in developing new and maintaining •	
current building and Information Technology 
infrastructure

Leading the development and implementation of the •	
Information Systems strategic and annual planning to 
meet the current and future needs of the Institute

Providing efficient eServices to constituents in all the •	
areas of the Institute’s operations

Developing online services to support eBusiness •	
functionality for efficient corporate reporting, 
communications services for students, staff and 
international campuses 

Chairing the Information System Committee (ISC) •	
which is responsible for development of the Information 
systems priorities and presides over the Institute 
Project Management Office to deliver ICT projects within 
budgets and achievable timelines

Providing accountability to Skills Victoria for the •	
operations of the Curriculum Maintenance Manager – 
Engineering on behalf of BHI

Maintaining high level relationships with major ICT •	
industry partners such as Cisco, Microsoft, Apple, Optus, 
Telstra, Panduit, Agilent and others

Key initiatives for 2008 
Developing the five-year ICT strategic plan was a key 
accomplishment in 2008 as it involved considerable 
stakeholder consultation and background research to align 
the infrastructure needs of the organisation with current 
and future business models.  The Institute took a leadership 
role in a major State-wide project – developing the 
specifications for the new Student Management System – 
which is expected to roll out within the next two years. This 
required a major commitment from the IT area in terms 
of staff resources and a significant contribution from the 
Registrar’s Centre. 

At the Institute level, the current Student Management 
System was converted to run on a modern, fast and robust 
data base, ensuring that Box Hill Institute has a solid, safe 
and low risk migration path to a new system in the next 
two years. This has paid dividends in increased speed for 
enrolment and increased safety for data.

A five-year Information Technology Services Strategic Plan 
was developed and approved by the Institute.

In addition, considerable planning and systems review 
began in light of the Skills Reform Package announced 
by the Victorian Government. This change to a more 
competitive VET environment requires much back-end 
reworking of systems to enable effective enrolment 
management to occur using new student eligibility 
categories and with the introduction of an income 
contingent loan scheme for VET.

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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Other highlights included:

Establishment of the Information Systems Committee •	
with a key target to establish project governance for 
ICT projects and to ensure projects are managed using 
industry standards Prince2 methodology

Establishment of a new state-of-the-art data centre •	

Replacement of 500 aged PCs and improvement of •	
technology infrastructure, including the doubling of the 
size of the Broadband services

Establishment of student emails in partnership with •	
Microsoft in a project led by Information Technology 
Services

Participation with Skills Victoria in the Tender for a new •	
Student Management System

Enhancement of the documentation around the student •	
management database, removing redundant information 
to assist in migrating the data to the new Skills Victoria 
SMS project once available

updating of the Box Hill Institute website look, to reflect •	
our new corporate branding and logos

Sourcing of a solution to enhance student participation in •	
electronic classrooms (Virtual Canvas Project)

upgrading and installation of 80 plus data projectors, •	
along with wall mounted controls to give a common 
interface for teachers

Working with centres to upgrade the Elgar auditorium •	
audio visual equipment, providing for an enhanced 
learning space, and a practical classroom for 
performing arts
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EDUCATION AND TRAINING
Jennifer oliver 
Senior Executive Director Education and Training

Jennifer Oliver was appointed in July 2008 to this newly 
created senior position reporting to the Chief Executive 
Officer. 

Scope of responsibilities:

Providing educational leadership across the Institute •	

Ensuring that the Institute maximises available funding •	
for training places and student contact hours from 
Commonwealth and State sources, through the annual 
Performance Agreement and through access to growth 
places provided in a contestable fashion. 

Providing high level strategic advice to the Chief •	
Executive Officer on initiatives aimed at improving 
educational outcomes, overseeing the development of 
new educational programs, including degrees 

Implementing and monitoring of the Institute’s Education •	
Plan 

Providing support and leadership for the Teaching •	
Centre General Managers and the Executive Director 
Learning and Academic Affairs

Establishing and maintaining strategic relationships with •	
Commonwealth and State Government Agencies.

Ensuring consistency and quality of education provision •	
across the Institute

Developing capacity to meet and deliver on commercial •	
revenue opportunities across teaching Centres 

Ensuring that all teaching delivery targets, quality and •	
budgetary requirements are met. 

Key initiatives for 2008 
2008 was a significant year, marked by the implementation 
of the new Education Plan (2008-2012), the signing of the 
Deakin TAFE Alliance MOu, the Teaching and Learning 
Symposium, and Box Hill Institute’s application to the 
national Review of Australian Higher Education. The 
Federal Minister released the Expert Panel’s final report, 
also known as the Bradley Review, on the 17 December 
2008.

higher Education
The Associate Degree of Fashion Technology was revised 
and the Bachelor of Fashion was developed and both were 
ready to be submitted for accreditation in 2009. 

The Bachelor of Computer Systems (networking) was 
assessed and gained Professional Accreditation from the 
Australian Computer Society.

board of Studies
The Higher Education Board of Studies and the Vocational 
Education and Training Board of Studies continued to 
provide oversight of all educational quality. Three Boards 
of Studies subcommittees met regularly to support 
accreditation; policy and procedure development and 
academic research. The Boards of Studies also were 
responsible for reporting and endorsement of initiatives 
including: 

Submission and acceptance of a BHI research project to •	
the nCVER called “Crediting Vocational Education and 
Training for Learner Mobility”

Presentation of Victorian Registration and Qualifications •	
Authority (VRQA) Credit Matrix Project

Presentation of Australian Quality Training Framework •	
(AQTF 2007) Transition Plan

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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Implementation of AQTF 2007 Self Assessment tool for •	
all teaching centres

Self Accreditation course proposals for:•	

- Vocational Graduate Diploma in Science Management

- Graduate Certificate in Wholefood Cookery

- Vocational Graduate Certificate in ICT Sustainability

- Vocational Graduate Certificate in Information   
 Technology Security

Degree proposals for Early Childhood Education; •	
Sustainable Built Environment

Review of Moderation and Continuous Improvement •	
Reports from BHI extended campuses

Review of presentations and reports in relation to: •	
quality assurance, professional teaching practice and 
innovation in learning

the Deakin taFE alliance
Senior representatives from Deakin university, Gordon 
TAFE, South West TAFE and Box Hill Institute attended three 
meetings in 2008. 

On 24 november the Deakin TAFE Alliance MOu was signed.

Project based sub-committees were established and 
worked on the following areas:

nursing•	

Advanced Standing and Pathways, and•	

Benchmarking•	

teacher education and professional practice
Box Hill Institute offered a complete teacher education •	
and assessor certification pathway from initial 
certificate level to postgraduate teacher education.

Staff completed Certificate IV in Training and •	
Assessment, the Diploma of Training and Assessment 
and the Diploma of Vocational Education and Training 
Practice.

The Box Hill Institute and Deakin university partnership •	
provided the opportunity for Box Hill Institute staff 
to commence studies in the following courses: the 
Graduate Certificate in Higher Education and the 
Graduate Certificate in Teaching English as a Second 
Language.

The Box Hill Institute and Monash university partnership •	
continued with the delivery of the Masters program: 
Master of Education (Work and Learning Studies). A 
group of 23 staff continued their studies in 2008. The 
majority of these staff will complete their studies in 
2009.

The 2008 Teaching and Learning Symposium, “The •	
Power of One”, was conducted on 18 September 
2008 with 286 staff in attendance. Keynote speakers 
presented on a range of topics including “The Power 
of One: Creating the future you want, not inheriting the 
future you fear,” and “The VET Policy Story – what is it 
asking of you?” The plenary speaker was Michael Carr-
Gregg, one of Australian’s highest profile psychologists. 
Staff also conducted interactive workshops including 
a ‘Classroom Reality Show’, ‘Learning in another 
language’ and ‘international opportunities @ BHI’ as well 
as innovative E-Learning showcases including BHIVE – 
the new student web and BLInG and the Virtual Hospital.
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INTERNATIONAL
noel lyons 
Vice President International

Scope of responsibilities:

Managing international operations and growth in the •	
commercial business activities of the Institute including: 
International Projects, International In-bound Students 
and International Extended Campus operations.

Working across all areas of the Institute to develop and •	
build sustainable commercial, education and training 
partnerships that add value to our international clients 
and students.

A major achievement in 2008 was the re-organisation 
of the International Student Services area with the aim 
of enhancing the student experience and increasing 
overall customer satisfaction with educational delivery 
at Box Hill Institute. A prominent building on the Elgar 
Campus was refurbished to provide a dedicated hub for 
international student administration and support.  The 
Education Services for Overseas Students (ESOS) audit was 
successfully completed and validated by the VRQA audit. 
The outcome of the heightened focus on service delivery 
was acknowledged with a Commendation in the Australian 
Government Export Awards, Education category. This was 
Box Hill Institute’s third consecutive year of recognition at 
these prestigious awards.

Specific Achievements and Activities  
in 2008
International In-bound students
In broad terms, the Institute followed the overall growth 
trends in the market in terms of student growth and source 
countries. Student numbers remained consistent with 
the previous year. Predicted growth was impacted by visa 
classifications and government policies for international 
students. 

In 2008, international students were enrolled at Box Hill 
Institute across a range of areas in Hospitality and Tourism, 
ELICOS, Information and  Communication Technology, 
Business Programs and Automotive, Transport and 
Engineering. 

International Extended Campus operations 
Activity in 2008 focused in the following operations/
countries:

box hill College Kuwait (bhCK)

In 2008, BHCK completed stage 2 of its building program 
comprising over 20 specialist training classrooms for ICT, 
business, interior design and graphic art training. The 
complex also boasts a state-of-the-art learning resource 
centre and a swimming pool for the all-female student 
cohort. Classes in the specialist diploma areas also 
commenced in September 2008.

nZptC

nZPTC had an increase in enrolments in Fiji during 2008, 
led predominantly by hospitality. nZPTC has plans to 
increase offerings in 2009, with a major upgrade of its 
cookery facilities and the reintroduction of the Certificate in 
General Education.

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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Raffles Emaar

With campuses in Dubai, Singapore and Ho Chi Minh City, and growth into many more markets over 
the next few years, Raffles-Emaar is showing highly promising growth as our current campuses 
mature and diversify. Our client has been using its influential links in the uAE to support professional 
placement for our Vietnamese graduates, enhancing their global employment opportunities.

China

Box Hill Institute opened two new campuses in China in 2008, bringing our total of Chinese extended 
campuses to 13. Another three campuses in China are planned to open in 2009.

teaching and learning materials: 

The International Extended Campus unit (IECu) formed a partnership with Learning Resource 
Development and three teaching centres to provide new high quality teaching and learning materials 
for the Institute’s extended campuses. 

Quality

The IECu was involved in in-country quality assurance reviews in 2008 at Box Hill College Kuwait 
(BHCK), Hanoi Open university (HOu) and nZPTC. Reports on these reviews will advise IECu on 
planning for AQTF compliance in extended campus operations.

International projects
The global economic downturn in 2008 impacted on the level of the Institute’s international project 
activity, however overall it is pleasing to note that there was a significant increase in revenue for this 
sector. Specific achievements and activity in 2008 included:

australia-pacific technical College (aptC) Schools of 
tourism and hospitality (Sth) and health and Community 
Services (ShCS) 

Highlights from 2008 include:

APTC STH completed its first full year of operations •	
across the three campus countries: Fiji, Vanuatu and 
Samoa. The APTC SHCS design was finalised in April 
and began implementation in July 2008. The first SHCS 
courses in Children’s Services commenced in August 
2008 in Fiji and Vanuatu. 

Course evaluation surveys completed at the end of each •	
semester reported satisfaction rates on target at over 
80% across all areas of enquiry. 

The upgrading and capital works project in Vanuatu was •	
completed in October 2008 with the official opening of 
the APTC building in november 2008.

Macau hospitality projects

The Institute employed a full time manager on site in Macau 
to coordinate local delivery and identify further business 
opportunities in the region. Working with four different 
assets in Macau (The Venetian Macao Resort Hotel; 
Galaxy Entertainment Group; Grand Lisboa Macau and 
Sands Macao Hotel), the Institute continues to service this 
region through delivery of several short term training and 
consultancy projects. 

International trade Skills assessments for Migration 
project

In a Consortium led by VETASSESS, and with other 
Australian educational organisations, the Institute 
is involved in the assessment of the trade skills of 
intending migrants. The project is a major initiative of the 
Commonwealth Government to increase the number of 
skilled migrants.

Singapore Workforce Development agency (WDa) 
Community & Social Services Resource Development and 
training Delivery

The Institute finalised contract negotiations with the 
WDA to implement a major resource development and 
training project. The project will cover qualifications for the 
Community and Social Services sector in Singapore.

Maldives Institute of hospitality and tourism 

The Institute was able to assist the partner development 
organisation to successfully win the right to build and 
operate a resort/hotel and training complex in the Maldives. 
The Institute is currently assisting the partner to develop 
a business plan and design for the training facility to be 
operated by the Institute under a management contract or 
other arrangement.

other project activities:
BHI continued to develop relations in South America •	
having implemented activities such as a report on VET 
Mining in Latin America for DEST; and Certificate IV in 
Training and Assessment and Diploma of VET to DuOC, 
Chile and FuCn, Colombia.

Delivery of the Certificate IV in Training and Assessment •	
focusing on developing competency standards for the 
Directorate General Taxation in Indonesia for the AusAID 
funded Indonesia-Australia Specialised Training Project 
III. 

Focus on the Middle East strengthened with the opening •	
of Box Hill College Kuwait, delivery of extended campus 
activities with Art Skills Institute in Saudi Arabia and 
Dubai Aluminium Company in uAE.
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HEALTH SCIENCES AND ACCESS/ 
STUDENTS
angela hoare-lippmann 
General Manager 
Health Sciences and Access/Students

Scope of responsibilities:

Providing educational leadership•	

Ensuring Education Program Management & Delivery•	

Delivering services to students•	

Providing Health and Community Service Industry •	
leadership

Providing Biotechnology and Animal Sciences Industry •	
leadership

Key initiatives and achievements:
Important achievements occurred across all areas in 
2008, including the design, development and building 
commencement of the nursing Skills Centre of Excellence. 
Along with this, the Institute was given a significant grant to 
purchase state-of-the-art simulation equipment for use in 
the new Centre. 

The Centre for Student Support delivered part of the 
Institute VCAL program for the first time, with excellent 
retention figures achieved. Considerable focus went into 
improving support for all target student groups, including 
international, young and mature-age and indigenous 
students.

Centre of biotechnology and animal Sciences

The Centre for Biotechnology, BioSkills, took important •	
roles at the Ausbiotech and ALMA Conferences, 
generating multiple potential opportunities for the 
centre and BioSkills to work and train in industry.

An Industry Skills Advisor project was completed in •	
collaboration with the Australian Industry Group.

The first cohort of degree students completed their •	
studies for the Bachelor of Biotechnology  
with the graduation ceremony scheduled for early 2009 
for the inaugural graduates.

The Veterinary nursing program continued to prove •	
popular with school leavers and relationships were 
strengthened with local veterinary surgeons.

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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Student Support Centre

There was a significant number of Student Support Centre 
participants in Organisation Development’s Indigenous 
Cultural Awareness Training, and delivery of training to 
teachers in obligations under the Disability Discrimination 
Act. 

For the Teaching and Learning Symposium, the Centre 
developed and ran the “So You Think You Can Teach” 
seminar, utilising key student feedback for teachers in a 
participatory workshop which reinforced useful strategies 
in meeting diverse student needs. 

Four staff members participated in an Online Services 
Internship Program.  Projects included development of a 
virtual introduction to Box Hill Institute.

There was whole Centre participation in development of 
presentation skills funded as part of the Staff Achievement 
Recognition Program (SARP) award.

Full-service style modes of support were effectively 
delivered for target student groups with particular 
improvements in orientation, early identification and 
intervention and critical incident support.

Young students were more effectively supported, with 
an extension of the Youth Pathways Program to some 
VCE students, continued attendance monitoring and SMS 
support, full mid-year reviews with parent interviews and 
more integrated literacy and numeracy curriculum for 
Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning (VCAL) students.  
A Youth Hub at Open Day provided more effective marketing 
for the 2009 youth programs.

A thorough set of strategies to ascertain the needs of 
mature-age students led to recommendations to meet their 
needs and the beginning of implementation of some of those 
recommendations. 

For indigenous students, a new tailored Certificate III 
course in Indigenous Arts and Design, a bridging course and 
a very successful staff training in cultural awareness were 
introduced.

Centre of Vocational access and Education

Approval was received from the Victorian Curriculum •	
and Assessment Authority to conduct the VCE at Suzhou 
International Foreign Language School in China in 2009.

An extension was obtained for the current contract •	
with The Department of Education, Employment 
and Workplace Relations to manage and deliver the 
Language Literacy and numeracy Program until 30 
June, 2010.

A Professional Writing and Editing event titled “Getting •	
a Toehold in the industry” was conducted on 24 October, 
2008.

The Centre was runner up in the Centre of the Year •	
category at our annual SARP awards lunch.

Centre of health and Community Services

The proposal for the Graduate Certificate Simulation was developed for delivery in 2009.•	

The Centre won a contract in Singapore to develop training materials for the workers in the Health •	
and Community Services sector.

A plan for the Health Industry was implemented which has identified new ways of incorporating •	
initiatives in Wellbeing in collaboration with the Centre of Hair, Floristry and Beauty and the Centre 
for Biotechnology and Animal Sciences. These will focus on nursing, medical devices, aged care, 
allied health, disability and children’s services.

The construction of the new Health and Wellbeing Hub, building 5, commenced with the sod-•	
turning attended by Minister Jacinta Allan and a host of health industry dignitaries.
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INNOVATION AND CREATIVE  
INDUSTRIES/INNOVATION
Kerri Ferguson 
General Manager 
Innovation and Creative Industries/Innovation

Scope of responsibilities:

The Centre for Media Design and Arts •	

The Centre for Hair Beauty and Floristry •	

The Centre for Information and Communications •	
Technology 

The Centre for Performing Arts •	

Directorate staff and Corporate Relations •	

Leading the Innovation and Creative Industries strategy •	

Liaising with the Aveda Institute Melbourne •	

Key initiatives and achievements:
With a stated goal of being a leader in innovation, Box Hill 
continued to place a high emphasis on identifying new 
ways of delivering services, programs and projects. An 
Innovation Framework and Action Plan was developed and 
the administrative underpinnings to encourage the Institute 
to act as a catalyst for change were put in place in 2008. Key 
staff were recruited and a promotional strategy developed 
to encourage staff to put forward new ideas for service 
delivery, infrastructure and teaching methods. One of the 
first successes of the innovation focus was the piloting of 
the virtual canvas technology.

Innovation Framework and action plan 

The Innovation Framework was developed after extensive 
consultation with staff through a series of rolling 
workshops. An “Innovation Zone” was launched on the staff 
website to encourage submissions and ideas and staff input 
was sought on ways to develop a culture of innovation at the 
Institute. Box Hill ‘Innovation Champions” were identified 
to assist with this activity and a committee of “Innovation 
Deciders” was subsequently established to sift through the 
ideas produced. The Innovation Deciders will recommend 
ideas to the Executive Management Team for funding.

Centre for performing arts

The Centre saw a significant increase in enrolments for 
the Music Degree programs. The new Bachelor of Applied 
Business in Music Industry degree had its first intake with 
12 students in second year transitioning from the Diploma of 
Music, and 23 in first year. This was a fantastic achievement 
given it was accredited in December and therefore did not 
make it into Victorian Tertiary Admissions Centre (VTAC) 
marketing material.

One of the year’s major highlights was the benefit 
concert for the Chinese earthquake victims appeal held 
in the auditorium on 23 September involving the Chinese 
community represented by the Consul-General. The concert 
was a very successful night.

Centre for Media Design and arts

Media Design and Arts students continued to win awards in 
2008. Fashion student nadia Foti won first prize at the Wool 
Awards for the lingerie category, Fashion student Alana 
Foulds won bronze at the Wool Awards for the business 
category. Fashion student Melissa Mahony won the 
business category at the Wool Awards and also a bronze for

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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wearable art. In Jewellery, student Aimee Crebbin won the 
Kaiserman Prize for Jewellery and Djurdjica Kesic won the 
Jewellers and Metalsmiths of Victoria Student award and 
was a finalist in the Craft Victoria Fresh Awards.

Centre for hair, beauty & Floristry 

Hairdressing produced a number of highlights. Recruitment 
fairs for Hair and Beauty employers were held in March and 
October, giving students and employers valuable interface 
opportunities. The inaugural Aveda Institute Melbourne 
Industry Hair Round Table meeting was held in April and 
the Diploma in Hairdressing Salon Management for local 
students commenced in October with 21 students enrolled.

The Salon on Elgar and Hairdressing/Beauty Parlour 
received a 5 Star Rating for health regulations from 
Whitehorse Council. Open Day competitions in Hairdressing 
and Floristry continued to produce amazing results, and 
externally, Hairdressing student Jason Mitchell won the 
Apprentice of the Year Award for second year apprentices. 

Students also showed their skills out on the road, servicing 
13 models for the 2008 Victorian Training Awards in August, 
and, in collaboration with the Centre for Media Design and 
Arts, doing make-up and hair for six models each morning 
as part of the “Fashionista” promotional road show for 
the fashion degree course. Students Sharon McBean and 
Adlena Dignam participated in a “Fashion Runaway” Study 
Tour to Institute of Technical Education, Singapore in July. 
Beauty student Katrina Stamboulakis won gold in the 
Victorian Worldskills and competed for the national title 
in July in Sydney. Floristry won a Bronze Medal at the 2008 
Melbourne International Flower and Garden Show, while 
student Jessica McGregor won second place in the Floristry 
World Skills competition and Elise McDonald was second 
among 38 other competitors in the advanced student 
competition at the Melbourne International Flower and 
Garden Show.

A number of staff members enhanced their skills in 
Hairdressing, becoming Aveda certified. Five teachers 
completed Diplomas of VET Practice, and one staff 
member completed the Diploma of Frontline Management. 
Floristry teacher Phillip Roberts was acknowledged with an 
appointment to the national Technical Workshop group for 
the reviews to the Floristry Training Package.  

Centre for Information and Communications technology

The Institute was selected by Microsoft as the preferred 
training provider of instructors for the Microsoft IT Academy 
Program, and delivered security training in East Timor for 
the united nations. 
“Support IT”, a student-based enterprise, was successfully 
implemented for the first time, with a good response 
from students. The year also saw the introduction of the 
Advanced Diploma of Shared Technology, the first course 
of its kind to be implemented in 2008, and the Degree 
course in ICT networking was given ACS accreditation. A 
successful networking competition was undertaken, and 
one of the Victorian schools, trained by the Institute, won the 
national Competition.

In Library Studies, two key initiatives were successfully 
launched: the Library and Information Services Online 
Community (LISOC), and a new program, Advanced Diploma 
of Library Information Services. Staff member Renate 
Beilharz won the Institute Corporate Citizen Award and was 
a finalist in the Employee of the Year. 

Staff enhancement activities were undertaken, including 
one staff member travelling to Germany for an ICT 
sustainability study tour – investigating alternate energies. 
In the area of student achievement, three out of four degree 
students were accepted into the IBM national Graduate 
Program.
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MANUFACTURING AND BUILDING  
INDUSTRIES/APPRENTICES
greg pringle 
General Manager 
Manufacturing and Building Industries/Apprentices

Scope of responsibilities:

Providing Education Leadership•	

The management and delivery of Education Programs•	

Manufacturing Sector Industry Strategy•	

Building Sector Industries Strategy•	

Apprenticeship Co-ordination•	

Business Growth/Opportunities •	

Key initiatives and achievements:
2008 was again a year of significant highlights in the 
Manufacturing and Building Industry areas. new campuses 
and programs commenced, including a new extended 
campus opened at Hubei (China), which is delivering the 
Diploma of Logistics, the new Prevocational Automotive 
Centre in Lexton Road, Box Hill, which to our knowledge 
is the only such facility in Victoria and possibly Australia, 
and the commencement of Electrical and Refrigeration 
programs at Hong Lam Vocational College in Vietnam. 

Apprentices from all trade areas again had a very 
successful year in terms of winning awards sponsored by 
industry bodies such as the Housing Industry Association, 
including the prestigious award of the Outstanding Final 
Year Plumber in Victoria.

There was also growth in student numbers in all trade 
areas on offer at Box Hill Institute. Across the Building 
trades there was strong growth in pre-vocational training, 
with evidence confirming the relevance and effectiveness of 
the training delivery – a large number of students returning 
for an apprenticeship or obtaining a job while completing the 
pre-vocational training. This helped enhance the Institute’s 
reputation across the industry for relevant, job-ready 
training.

In the international sphere, Institute staff, as members of 
the VET ASSESS consortium, conducted skills assessments 
in the uK, India, South Africa and the Philippines in the 
fields of automotive, electrical and refrigeration/air 
conditioning as part of a Commonwealth Government 
initiative. The assessment process involved the integrated 
assessment of candidate’s trade competencies through an 
innovative combination of tasks. The assessment forms a 
key plank in the Australian Government’s Skilled Migration 
Scheme.

trade Skills Centre

A significant contribution was made to the development of 
a proposal to the State Government for the redevelopment 
of the Trades area into a modern facility where the 
latest in teaching methodology can be demonstrated. 
Announcements are expected in 2009 on the outcome of the 
submission.

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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Equipment upgrading

The Centre for Automotive, Transport and Engineering 
purchased an industry-standard Focus FCL-300MC Lathe, 
which is computer numeric controlled, to maintain industry 
equivalent training delivery with a view to producing 
industry-ready apprentices. Building and Furniture Studies 
also purchased three new pieces of equipment, two of 
which – a table saw and a thicknesser – also use computer 
numeric control. The Cabinetmaking and Shopfitting areas 
are now both able to deliver training on industry standard 
equipment.

Staff Development

Five teachers in Building and Furniture Studies commenced 
a Masters program in Education. This will help the Centre 
build the qualifications of its current teaching staff 
and increase higher end qualifications in line with the 
Government Skills agenda. A senior administration officer 
from Automotive, Transport and Engineering was also 
awarded a scholarship from the TAFE Development Centre 
to further her studies. Three staff members completed 
the Diploma of Project Management at Box Hill Institute, 
with a view to helping manage learning requirements for 
industries offshore. Project Management skills will also 
help the Centres win commercial training projects.

Industry Collaboration

The inaugural Industry Reference Group for the Diploma 
area in Building and Furniture Studies was established, 
continuing to build upon the strong existing relationships 
with various industry clients. The Industry Reference Group 
helped maintain the Centre’s focus on relevance to industry 
training requirements.

Commercial fee for service courses for major employers 
were delivered. The Institute also worked collaboratively 
with the City of Whitehorse, giving students access to design 
plans for the construction of a new grand stand at Box Hill 
Oval, and allowing students on-site as part of a live teaching 
aid.

Student exchanges

Outbound student exchanges to Canada and Denmark 
took place, leading to high levels of student satisfaction 
with the global exchange program. One group, comprising 
Carpentry, Plumbing and Building Design and Technology 
students, spent three weeks in Canada, resulting in one 
student returning to apply for full semester study.

Inbound student exchanges were received from uSA, 
Canada and Denmark to help facilitate knowledge-sharing, 
with similar feedback on their success.
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HOSPITALITY AND BUSINESS  
MANAGEMENT/WORKPLACE
anthony bailey 
General Manager 
Hospitality and Business Management/Workplace

Scope of responsibilities:

Centre for Business Programs•	

Centre for Management and Small Business•	

Centre for Hospitality and Tourism Studies•	

School of Tourism and Hospitality, Australia-Pacific •	
Technical College

Fountains Restaurant•	

Pets on Elgar and Industry-based training initiatives that •	
promote workplace learning and development. 

Key initiatives and achievements:
2008 saw a series of firsts in Hospitality and Business 
Management, with new courses being developed to meet 
industry needs in both areas, and the first group of degree 
students in hospitality graduating. At a global level, the 
Centre for Business Programs began delivery at Box Hill 
College Kuwait. As part of the Australia Pacific Technical 
College, the School of Tourism and Hospitality commenced 
operations in Fiji, Vanuatu and Samoa, and the inaugural 
London Experience took place, giving students a month of 
invaluable working experience in London hotels. Hospitality 
students won silver and bronze medals at the Australian 
Culinary Challenge and the VicTAFE Cookery Competition, 
and Tom Zolst and Len Alabaster were presented with AAMI 
national nEIS Association Business Awards.

teaching and learning
new courses

Management and Small Business developed a new course 
in 2008 in response to industry training needs in the eastern 
suburbs of Melbourne. The Diploma in Supply Chain/
Logistics Management is targeted at employees in small to 
medium enterprises and will be delivered in industry.

Hospitality and Tourism finalised the Graduate Certificate 
in Wholefood Cookery for accreditation with the Institute’s 
Board of Studies. This course combines elements of 
commercial cookery, nutrition, health and wellness, 
wholefoods and macrobiotics. It is targeted at food industry 
professionals looking to develop news skills and knowledge 
in the emerging area of “food as medicine”.

blended learning

The Centre for Hospitality and Tourism continued to 
develop flexible study options in 2008 with the creation of a 
blended learning program for the tourism unit “Develop and 
implement sponsorship plans” using WebCT. This is part 
of an initiative to include a blended-learning option for all 
courses in the centre.

training packages

All three centres worked throughout 2008 on the 
implementation of revised training packages. This provided 
an opportunity to review current courses and identify areas 
for improvement. It also gave the centres the opportunity 
to identify emerging trends in their respective industries 
and respond to those trends through the development of 
new training resources. In Business Programs the centre 
created a common first-year for business management 
qualifications and second year specialist and elective 
streams. 

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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Degrees

The first group of hospitality students completed the 
Bachelor of Hospitality Management in 2008. The program 
began in 2007 with a group of students who articulated 
from the Advanced Diploma Hospitality Management 
and Advanced Diploma Tourism Management. Students 
took advantage of specialist subjects in innovation and 
entrepreneurship, strategic project management and 
information technology offered through other centres in the 
Institute.

Internships

Students in the Centre for Hospitality and Tourism took 
advantage of the internship programs the centre offers 
with properties such as Hayman Island Resort, Cable 
Beach Resort, the Holiday Inn and Melbourne Airport. The 
internship program provides paid employment and the work 
students complete contributes credit towards their course, 
thus allowing them to complete their course in a shorter 
term timeframe. The Centre will increase the number of 
properties students can apply to for an internship in 2009.

International/global Education network 
Extended campuses

Across the portfolio there was significant activity at 
extended campuses in particular in China and South East 
Asia. Business Programs commenced delivery of programs 
at Box Hill College Kuwait and Hospitality continued with 
programs in Vietnam, Singapore and Dubai. The portfolio 
was also involved in quality reviews in Fiji with the new 
Zealand Pacific Training Centre.

australia-pacific technical College

The School of Tourism and Hospitality commenced 
operations at three campus countries in 2008: Fiji, Vanuatu 
and Samoa. The school received applications from students 
across the Pacific and 180 students enrolled in programs in 
commercial cookery, tourism, hospitality and training and 
assessment. Graduation ceremonies were held in seven 
Pacific nations including Tonga and nauru. More than 30 
Institute staff members are working on the program both in 
Melbourne and the South Pacific. In 2009 two new courses, 
bakery and hairdressing, will be available through the 
school.

london Experience

The first group of Box Hill students participated in the 
London Experience in 2008. The students travelled to 
London for a month-long stay in the West End that involved 
full-time employment in hotels and cultural activities on 
weekends such as visiting the London Eye, Hyde Park and 
Windsor Castle. Students saw some of the night life of 
London and dined at Jamie Oliver’s Fifteen restaurant.
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ORGANISATION DEVELOPMENT
Delia McIver 
Executive Director 
Organisation Development

Scope of responsibilities:

Creating a culture within Box Hill Institute that values •	
learning and places a high priority on providing learning 
opportunities for staff

Ensuring human resource needs are identified and •	
related plans developed to support the Institute’s 
strategic, educational and business directions

Fostering positive working relationships between the •	
Institute, staff and unions

Ensuring availability of a comprehensive range of services •	
to the management and staff of the Institute, consistent 
with Institute policies and legislative requirements

Key achievements in 2008
A range of Organisation Development strategies were 
implemented in 2008. These included the Leadership 
Capability Framework and the Leadership Development 
Program, People Management Plans, strategies to address 
key issues identified in the Staff Satisfaction Survey, and 
regular reports on people management indicators.

The structure within Organisation Development was 
reviewed during the latter part of 2008. As a result, the 
number of Centres was reduced from four to three, and a 
new Centre of Workforce Development was created. Five 
new and existing policies and procedures were developed, 
reviewed and implemented, in a range of areas 

including Equal Employment Opportunity & Discrimination, 
Recruitment & Selection and Grievance.

people Development

A strategic Staff Development Plan was developed. Staff 
skills were enhanced by a range of measures, including 
programs such as a Diploma of Project Management, 
Leadership in Action and Customer Service, plus the 
utilisation of Staff Development and study support funding, 
industrial release for skills updating and in-house staff 
mentoring.

Enterprise bargaining/Employee Relations

A TAFE system wide Multi-Business Agreement for 
teachers was negotiated with the Australian Education 
union (to be implemented in 2009). Revised procedures 
were developed and implemented for the engagement of 
independent contractors.

A review was conducted of the employment of casual staff, 
and a comprehensive training program for managers and 
staff on compliance issues was commenced.

Workplace Support

A suite of behavioural policies, (Equal Employment 
Opportunity and Discrimination, Grievance, Harassment, 
and Victimisation) was implemented. A Workplace 
Behaviour program was conducted based on the Institute’s 
policies and the law. 

people and performance Management

Individual Work and Individual Development Plans were 
prepared for PACCT employees in accordance with the 
2005-2008 Collective Agreement. Teacher accountability 
plans were implemented and evaluated, and the 
Management Team performance management process was 
reviewed and implemented.

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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business process Improvement

Enhancements continued to be made to SEIK (the online 
Self-Service Employee Information Kiosk), including a 
general upgrade, enhanced reports, and a pilot of online 
timesheets and expense claims for a 2009 rollout. An audit 
of qualifications was conducted in four teaching Centres.

WorkCover

The Institute’s performance during the year was affected 
by some large claim costs and as a result the provisional 
premium increased. The year’s result follows a number of 
years of “above industry” performance as assessed by the 
Victorian Workcover Authority. By year end the provisional 
premium had declined significantly.

Recruitment activity

An updated Recruitment and Selection policy was drafted, 
consulted upon, and implemented across the Institute. 
Forms and documents were revised to reflect the updated 
policy.

There were 329 positions advertised in 2008, comprising 
152 PACCT positions, 158 teaching positions (including 24 
expressions of interest for sessional teachers), 1 Senior 
Executive Director position, 5 Executive Director/General 
Manager positions and 13 Centre/Executive Manager 
positions (including 6 acting positions). 

Acting appointments were made to many Management 
Team positions in order to cover short term absences for 
2008. This process also forms an integral element of the 
Institute’s leadership development and succession planning.

Employment principles:

Employment decisions are based on merit.•	

Employees are treated fairly and reasonably.•	

Equal employment opportunity is provided and human •	
rights are upheld.

Employees have a reasonable avenue of redress against •	
unfair or unreasonable treatment.

Employment information and data is collected and •	
managed confidentially and in accordance with 
Privacy, Public Records and other relevant legislative 
requirements.

Conduct principles:

All staff of the Institute are required to comply with the 
requirements set out in the Institute’s Code of Conduct and 
the Code of Conduct for the Victorian Public Sector.

Industrial relations 

The Institute continues to enjoy constructive and 
professional relationships with the various unions and 
their representatives. Regular meetings of the four 
Institute Consultative Committees for Teaching, PACCT, 
Maintenance, and Miscellaneous (Cleaners) employees 
provide a forum to discuss issues arising from Enterprise 
Agreements and employment issues generally.

During 2008, the Australian Education union conducted a 
series of short stop work meetings in an effort to obtain 
a new Certified Agreement covering all TAFE Teachers in 
Victoria and providing pay equity with school teachers. The 
parties announced a proposed new agreement on 18 
December 2008.

Total time lost during the teacher’s industrial campaign was 
1,603 hours.
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Workforce data 2008

tEaChIng StaFF 

Employment Status  Full time part time total EFt

On-Going Female 79 68 147 123.1

On-Going Male 139 15 154 146.5

Fixed Term Female 34 50 84 61.7

Fixed Term Male 66 25 91 85.6

Casual Female 0 201 201 45

Casual Male 0 227 227 57.4

SuB-TOTAL Female 113 319 432 229.8

SuB-TOTAL Male 205 267 472 289.5

total  318 586 904 519.3

paCCt anD non-tEaChIng StaFF  

Employment Status  Full time part time total EFt

Executive Officers Female 9 0 9 9

Executive Officers Male 5 0 5 5

Management Female 14 2 16 15.2

Management Male 23 2 25 24

PACCT On-Going Female 129 70 199 169.7

PACCT On-Going Male 54 5 59 57.2

PACCT Fixed Term Female 40 23 63 55.1

PACCT Fixed Term Male 21 11 32 28.1

PACCT Casual Female 0 26 26 8.7

PACCT Casual Male 0 9 9 4.3

Other Staff On-Going Female 1 1 2 1.5

Other Staff On-Going Male 21 5 26 24.3

Other Staff Fixed Term Female 1 1 2 1.7

Other Staff Fixed Term Male 1 0 1 1

Other Staff Casual Female 0 38 38 8.3

Other Staff Casual Male 0 32 32 10.5

SuB-TOTAL Female 194 161 355 269.2

SuB-TOTAL Male 125 64 189 154.4

TOTAL Female 307 480 787 499

TOTAL Male 330 331 661 443.9

gRanD total  637 811 1448 942.9
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Workforce Data 2007

tEaChIng StaFF  

Employment Status  Full time part time total EFt

On-Going Female 78 65 143 122

On-Going Male 142 15 157 150

Fixed Term Female 30 42 72 57.5

Fixed Term Male 43 14 57 52.3

Casual Female 0 204 204 48

Casual Male 0 229 229 61.8

SuB-TOTAL Female 108 311 419 227.5

SuB-TOTAL Male 185 258 443 264.1

total  293 569 862 491.6

gEnERal StaFF 

Employment Status  Full time part time total EFt

Executive Officers Female 6 1 7 7

Executive Officers Male 8 0 8 8

Management Female 15 1 16 15.6

Management Male 23 1 24 23.6

PACCT On-Going Female 131 55 186 162.6

PACCT On-Going Male 48 4 52 50.4

PACCT Fixed Term Female 29 24 53 43.1

PACCT Fixed Term Male 19 6 25 23.1

PACCT Casual Female 0 21 21 7.8

PACCT Casual Male 0 12 12 4.5

Other Staff On-Going Female 1 1 2 1.5

Other Staff On-Going Male 28 4 32 29.7

Other Staff Fixed Term Female 1 2 3 2

Other Staff Fixed Term Male 0 0 0 0

Other Staff Casual Female 0 34 34 7.5

Other Staff Casual Male 0 30 30 13

SuB-TOTAL Female 183 139 322 247.1

SuB-TOTAL Male 126 57 183 152.3

TOTAL Female 291 450 741 474.6

TOTAL Male 311 315 626 416.4

gRanD total  602 765 1367 891

Workforce data 2008

tEaChIng StaFF 

Employment Status  Full time part time total EFt

On-Going Female 79 68 147 123.1

On-Going Male 139 15 154 146.5

Fixed Term Female 34 50 84 61.7

Fixed Term Male 66 25 91 85.6

Casual Female 0 201 201 45

Casual Male 0 227 227 57.4

SuB-TOTAL Female 113 319 432 229.8

SuB-TOTAL Male 205 267 472 289.5

total  318 586 904 519.3

paCCt anD non-tEaChIng StaFF  

Employment Status  Full time part time total EFt

Executive Officers Female 9 0 9 9

Executive Officers Male 5 0 5 5

Management Female 14 2 16 15.2

Management Male 23 2 25 24

PACCT On-Going Female 129 70 199 169.7

PACCT On-Going Male 54 5 59 57.2

PACCT Fixed Term Female 40 23 63 55.1

PACCT Fixed Term Male 21 11 32 28.1

PACCT Casual Female 0 26 26 8.7

PACCT Casual Male 0 9 9 4.3

Other Staff On-Going Female 1 1 2 1.5

Other Staff On-Going Male 21 5 26 24.3

Other Staff Fixed Term Female 1 1 2 1.7

Other Staff Fixed Term Male 1 0 1 1

Other Staff Casual Female 0 38 38 8.3

Other Staff Casual Male 0 32 32 10.5

SuB-TOTAL Female 194 161 355 269.2

SuB-TOTAL Male 125 64 189 154.4

TOTAL Female 307 480 787 499

TOTAL Male 330 331 661 443.9

gRanD total  637 811 1448 942.9



4646

CORPORATE MARKETING
Margo burke 
Executive Director 
Corporate Marketing

Margo Burke was appointed in January 2008 to this newly 
created position.

Scope of responsibilities:

Leading, developing and implementing the Corporate •	
Marketing Plan, Domestic Student and Recruitment 
Marketing Plans to grow the business in recurrent and 
commercial operational areas.

Building an enhanced brand position for the Institute.•	

Leading the transition to a more relevant customer •	
service centre environment.

Leading the investigation, research, development and •	
implementation of the Alumni Relations strategy.

Leading the Institute’s efforts in fundraising including •	
philanthropy and sponsorship.

Leading the Institute’s activities in terms of stakeholder •	
and community engagement .

Managing and building the reputational capital of the •	
Institute through the development and implementation 
of internal and external communications strategies.

Managing the day-to-day operations of three key •	
service centres and identifying continuous improvement 
opportunities for streamlining service delivery.

Leading the development of relevant market research •	
capacity to ensure all business decisions, course 
development and marketing activity are adequately 
informed.

Key initiatives and achievements
Three major marketing plans were delivered during the 
period under review including an institute-wide Strategic 
Marketing Plan aligned to the Institute’s 5-year strategic 
plan, a Domestic Student Recruitment Marketing Plan and 
Centre-specific individual marketing plans.  In addition a 
brand refresh was implemented, positioning the Institute 
visually as a contemporary and progressive training 
organisation to match the realities of the training and 
educational activities. The brand refresh proved popular 
with staff and students alike and won praise from the 
profession with finalist status in the Australian Marketing 
Institute Awards (ATMA)

Two other national marketing honours awarded by ATMA 
confirmed marketing excellence in 2008.

Customer service was also a major focus in 2008 with 
a Customer Service Charter developed, current service 
benchmarked against other educational institutions and 
a training program implemented to plug gaps in service 
delivery that had been identified. A ‘dashboard’ was 
introduced to enable the Call Centre to deliver faster and 
more informed service to enquiries and multi-skilling of 
staff conducted aimed at service enhancement.

Developing the web tender specifications for the 
redevelopment of the Institute’s website and overseeing 
relevant research to inform the new direction was a 
significant activity in 2008.

Library services were reviewed and plans developed for 
further streamlining and upgrading the service through 
reduction of the service footprint.  

Another key area of focus was on improving the Student 
Management System and service standards and response 
times for enrolments. The Registrar’s Centre also 
responded to 7 audits conducted during the year.

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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The Institute provided major technical and business 
assistance as a participant in the development of the Skills 
Victoria tender preparation for a proposed new student 
management system and contributed the engagement 
strategy to all major funding submissions.

Marketing and Customer Service
A range of initiatives were implemented, including 
innovative outreach activities to secure interest in programs 
– such as the “Fashionista” Mobile Expo, taking the work of 
Institute students out to target schools.

Increased research and market analysis was introduced to 
facilitate strategic integrated marketing and evidence based 
decisions, particularly within the Short Courses area and 
Centres.

Marketing collateral was revitalised, assisting local and 
International Marketing efforts and strategic advice on 
advertising spend was provided.

Other initiatives such as Parent Information Evenings and 
more focused events for Careers Advisors helped enhance 
relationships with key influencers.

new policies and procedures were developed to underpin 
future development of the Box Hill Institute Foundation and 
Box Hill Institute Graduates Association. Also sponsorship 
significantly increased in 2088.

Student administration
The Student Administration team delivered exceptional 
service and processed increased enrolments, culminating 
in winning Centre of the Year for Service. A range of 
initiatives were implemented to facilitate this excellent 
service reputation, including the creation and production of 
a “Welcome Booklet” for domestic students enrolling at the 
Institute, and a passport photo ID service to students and 
staff. Positive outcomes were obtained from all audits, with 
the final audit resulting in praise from the auditor on the 
excellent state of records checked.

library Services
The Engineering Library was successfully merged with the 
Elgar Campus Library and a number of student-friendly 
initiatives that boosted communications flow and amenity 
put in place, including new large screen televisions and 
comfortable furnishings.  A realignment of staff within a 
new service framework was also commenced. Library 
Services won the “Big Idea’ funding for the proposal to 
create an e-sandpit where staff and students can gain 
valuable practical experience in new technologies.
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PROPERTY AND CAMPUS SERVICES
alison Fincher 
General Manager 
Property and Campus Services

Dr Alison Fincher was appointed to the position of General 
Manager Property and Campus Services on 21 April 2008.

Scope of responsibilities:

Provision of a positive environment for staff and •	
students

Master planning, property and asset management•	

Developing new infrastructure through the Capital •	
Works program and in accordance with the Master Plan

upgrading, maintaining and operating existing •	
infrastructure

Space utilisation•	

Occupational Health and Safety•	

Whitehorse Fitness Centre•	

Timetable•	

Key initiatives and achievements
During 2008, a major priority for the Property and Campus 
Services area was in relation to master planning – 
particularly in relation to the proposed redevelopment of 
the Whitehorse Campus as a Creative Industries hub and 
the establishment of a new Trades Skill Centre.

A number of major capital works, including the 
commencement of construction of the Health and Wellbeing 
Hub, and various facilities service programs took place 
in 2008. The year also saw the Timetabling team host 
the annual CELCAT user’s Group meeting for Australia, 
the introduction of individual student timetables, and the 
implementation of the 2008 OHS Improvement Plan.

The Property and Campus Services portfolio was reviewed, 
leading to identification of a range of initiatives to assist in 
improving the management of the Institute’s property and 
infrastructure.

Master planning 

Efficiency in utilisation of BHI facilities became a major 
focus of the Property and Campus Services portfolio. 
Improvement in space utilisation and refinement of the 
Master Plan to identify precincts and preferred locations for 
student based activities, teaching spaces, retail offerings, 
support service locations and administration is in the 
preliminary stages. 

Planning commenced for the recording of all BHI Facilities 
using Computer Aided Drafting (CAD) and the purchase 
and installation of new database software for Facilities 
and Space Management. This project is expected to be 
completed in 2009.

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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Water, Energy and Waste Reduction 

The Institute continued the consolidation of strategies 
developed in 2007 to reduce its consumption of water and 
energy along with diverting further waste from landfill. 
Activities in water, energy and waste reduction included the 
following:

A Water Management Plan was developed and •	
implementation commenced on Elgar Campus.

T5 fluorescent tubes, incandescent lamps and cold •	
cathode Exit and Emergency lamps were installed.

Recycling stations were installed adjacent to waste bins •	
across Elgar Campus to further divert recyclables from 
landfill.

 timetable

2008 saw the introduction of Individual Student Timetables 
in the Institute, increased staff training levels for viewing 
and entering timetables, a significant increase in the 
accuracy of timetabling information and an expansion of 
reports available to Teaching Centres. 

occupational health and Safety

The 2008 OHS Improvement Plan was implemented during 
the year. The plan contained a training program including:

Health and Safety Representative and refresher training.•	

HIRAC (hazard Identification, risk assessment and risk •	
control) training.

Emergency control organisation training.•	

OHS for Managers workshops.•	

The development of Safety Plans for each Centre continued. 
Auditing of Centre plans was conducted to ensure 
compliance and to identify any additional resources or 
training requirements.

Elections for Health and Safety Representatives resulted 
in the election of 23 Health and Safety Representatives 
and six deputies. The OH&S Committee met seven times 
throughout 2008. 

Evacuation Drills were conducted across all Institute 
buildings and First Aid Staff numbers increased during 2008 
to over 100 volunteers.

gymnasium

Whitehorse Fitness Centre introduced new extended 
service hours and equipment and the facility was upgraded. 
It now provides:

Air conditioning •	

Secure lockers•	

Foxtel plasma screens•	

Cardio room with new equipment•	

Olympic style free-weights•	

Membership of the gym increased by 15.4% in 2008•	

Major Capital Works projects

The Institute undertook significant capital works projects during 2008.

Construction of the Health and Wellbeing Hub, which commenced in August and is due for •	
completion in September 2009.

The International Centre underwent significant refurbishment. •	

Box Hill Institute’s Eastern Melbourne Skills Store was established in a refurbished shopfront •	
facility on Whitehorse Road and was officially opened by Minister Jacinta Allan on 22 October 2008.

Facilities Services

A range of Facilities Services projects were commenced during 2008, including:

Restoration after significant fire damage to the main lobby and stairwell in Building 1 on the •	
Whitehorse Campus.

Electrical upgrade of the Print unit facilities in Lexton Road.•	

Refurbishment of the Elgar Library, Jewellery Workshop, Gerber Room and classrooms for Media, •	
Design and Arts.

Significant upgrade of the Institute’s security system with additional properties being connected to •	
the management platform.

Planning and design for a major chiller upgrade to improve the level of thermal comfort provision •	
on the Elgar Campus.

Future activities will have a particular emphasis on Essential Safety Measures following changes to 
legislation. 
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LEARNING AND ACADEMIC AFFAIRS
Sandra Walls 
Executive Director

The Executive Director Learning and Academic Affairs 
Sandra Walls was appointed to her position in mid 2008. 

Scope of responsibilities:

Quality Learning •	

Box Hill Institute Degrees •	

university Relationships •	

Global education and training experiences for our •	
students and staff 

Education technologies•	

Key initiatives and achievements
To enable Box Hill Institute to continue to provide 
quality learning a new Education Plan (2008-2012) was 
implemented. 2008 saw much learning and assessment 
content developed for international and local markets 
to secure greater quality outcomes for the Institute’s 
students, with development of eLearning capability a 
major focus. On a global level, Box Hill Institute hosted 
the first Global Education network (GEn) Troika program 
and was represented at a range of international education 
conferences.

Quality learning

The defining projects for the Education Plan in 2008 
included the establishment of Institute wide AQTF Self-
Assessments; the design of an electronic workflow system 
to support quality assurance for Scope of Registration; the 
development of training and assessment templates to 

support the implementation of the Quality Management 
System in 2009; the review of International Off-shore 
Moderators Validation tools and the synergies between  
national Training Information Service (nTIS) and 
Commonwealth Register of Institutions Courses for 
Overseas Students (CRICOS); the establishment of a set of 
quality principles and standards to guide the development of 
learning and assessment resources, and the establishment 
of a risk management approach to new training package 
implementation.

box hill Institute Degrees

During 2008 Box Hill Institute delivered the following degree 
programs to over 500 students:

Bachelor and Associate Degree of Applied Music •	
(Composition;  Audio Production; Musical Theatre; 
Performance) 

Bachelor and Associate Degree in Applied Business  •	
Management in Music Industry

Bachelor and Associate Degree of Biotechnology and  •	
Innovation 

Bachelor and Associate Degree of Computer Systems  •	
(networking) 

Bachelor and Associate Degree of Hospitality •	
Management 

Associate Degree in Commerce •	

Associate Degree in Fashion•	

ExECutIVE REpoRtS



51BOx HILL InSTITuTE 2008 annual REpoRt

a globally Focused Institute

Box Hill Institute’s Global Education network (GEn) 
partnership continued with SAIT Polytechnic (Canada), 
Kirkwood Community College (uSA) and the Institute 
of Technical Education (Singapore). Box Hill Institute’s 
exchange partnerships also continued with DuOC uC in 
Santiago, Chile, VIA university College and Copenhagen 
Technical Academy in Denmark. 

Options for students increased with Box Hill Institute 
offering short exchange opportunities along with semester 
abroad and study tour options. Many students and staff 
completed an exchange experience at Box Hill Institute in 
2008.

Exchange opportunities were extended to include an 
increased number of centres across Box Hill Institute, 
providing greater participation and access to the broader 
student group. Exchange programs were offered by seven 
Centres within the Institute. 

The first GEn Troika training program featured 
competencies from the Diploma in Project Management 
completed by 25 students from the GEn partner colleges 
over a three week period.

Institute of Technical Education (ITE), Singapore hosted the 
sixth GEn Planning Conference in July-August 2008. The 
conference was attended by participants from Kirkwood 
Community College, SAIT Polytechnic, Box Hill Institute and 
the Institute of Technical Education.

Box Hill Institute was represented at the Community 
Colleges for International Development Inc (CCID) 
Conference in California, uSA in January 2008, which 
allowed for networking opportunities with a number of 
international Community Colleges. 

In February 2008, Box Hill Institute joined with GEn 
partners in new York City to present on the Global 
Education network at the Developing Global Partnerships 
Conference hosted by Bronx Community College for the 
International Association of Colleges.

Education technologies

A key 2008 emphasis was on staff professional development 
in multimedia, writing and project management. Prince2 
project methodology was trialled successfully to achieve a 
first-class result for Box Hill College Kuwait. 

In addition to supporting the Institute’s local teaching 
centres in their course deliveries intellectual property was 
captured and secured for the APTC project in the Pacific, 
and our ISO quality assurance for courseware development 
maintained. 

The Learning Resource Development Centre undertook 
80 projects centred around paper-based courseware 
materials. The two largest of these projects saw the 
creation of learner and teacher guides for 90 units of 
competency.

Blended learning environments were also designed and 
developed. In total 38 projects were completed by the 
Learning and Design Team. 

Major innovation projects included four new units of 
competency for three training areas (Building, Automotive 
and nursing) that were designed and implemented with nine 
staff mentored through the process; 17 staff participated in 
a 30 hour online facilitation course delivered via TAFEVC; 
20 teachers participated in training in the use of our new 
Learning Management System, BHIVE (TAFEVC); and the 
design of a web-based Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) 
tool.

university Relationships

The Deakin-Box Hill Coordination Executive Committee met three times in 2008 and supervised five 
Subcommittees: 

Local Marketing Subcommittee•	

Articulation Subcommittee•	

Creative Industries Subcommittee •	

Professional Development Subcommittee   •	

nursing Subcommittee •	

At a Presentation Workshop held on 11 December these subcommittees showcased their 
achievements and three additional new subcommittees outlined their planning for 2009.
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GOVERNMENT COMMERCIAL
Jill baird 
Executive Director 
Government Commercial

Scope of responsibilities:

Increasing government commercial income and •	
profitability within the Institute

Ensuring centres had appropriate systems and •	
processes in place, including implementation plans to 
deliver government initiatives and programs to ensure 
compliance with contract requirements

Increasing extended campus business•	

undertaking the role of Country Manager for China•	

Targeting appropriate sectors in the Chinese market and •	
ensuring the Institute had the capacity and capability to 
sustain current activities and further grow revenues and 
profits

Contributing to the ongoing strategic planning of the •	
Institute, along with achieving budget targets in areas of 
responsibility

Key initiatives and achievements
High acclaim was achieved for quality programs, including 
Greater Melbourne Employment and Training Services 
(GRAMETS), which once again outperformed most providers 
Australia wide. Health check rated GRAMETS at 82 per 
cent against the national Average 69 per cent. Experienced 
staff and a very low staff turnover rate, along with sound 
marketing and support practices, resulted in GRAMETS 
achieving 100 per cent against Key Performance Indicators 
in both labour market regions in which they operated. This 
expertise is reflected in the number of the Institute’s small 
business clients who were finalists and winners of various 
business awards. 

Also recognised was the Australian Apprenticeships Centre 
(AAC) which won the Minister’s Award for Outstanding 
Achievement for Support services to Crown, recognising the 
continuing work we do with Apprentices and industry. An 
external audit demonstrated that the Language, Literature 
and numeracy Programs (LLnP) performed well above the 
national benchmark except where we have few numbers of 
a particular cohort, and the success of the Apprenticeship 
Fast Track Project resulted in second round funding. 
Another initiative was recognised with the official launch of 
the new premises for the Eastern Melbourne Skills Store.

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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government projects

A number of other Government projects were secured 
through

Department of Education, Employment & Workplace •	
Relations

Centrelink•	

Department of Defence•	

Department of Innovation, Industry and Regional •	
Development

Department of Environment, Water, Heritage & the Arts•	

Department of Human Services•	

Department of Primary Industries•	

Department of Health and Ageing•	

Australian Taxation Office.•	

Regional China 

Box Hill Institute continued to expand its extended campus 
presence in China.

ausCham business award

In April, Appreciation Awards were presented to our 
Chinese partners whose support ensured our status as the 
2007 AuSTCHAM AnZ Business Excellence Award and the 
AuSTCHAM CLP Sustainable Development Award. 

VCE in China 

The Executive Committee of the VCAA Board approved BHI’s 
application for a licence to deliver VCE in Suzhou, Jiangsu 
Province.

Graduations celebrated in 2008 by BHI and partners 
were held at Shanghai Dian Ji university (June), Wuxi City 
College of Vocational Technology (July), and Shanghai 
Pharmaceutical School (June).
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ENTERPRISE SERVICES
Maria alibrando 
Executive Director

Scope of responsibilities:

Leading and managing the consolidation and expansion •	
of business relationships with existing clients, and 
developing business relationships with new clients

Leading business development for the domestic sector •	
market ensuring continuing growth of the Institute’s 
commercial revenue and surplus

Leading the development, implementation and •	
monitoring of the annual Marketing and Enterprise 
Services Plan to ensure the achievement of financial, 
sales and profitability targets

Leading the enhancement of the Institute’s market •	
research capacity, focussing on the eastern suburbs 
of Melbourne, to ensure that the Institute’s business 
decisions are based on the most current and up-to-date 
available information

Leading the development, implementation and •	
monitoring of all related projects for enterprise based 
work Institute wide

Leading consolidation and implementation of selected •	
Government programs

Managing tender teams for large Government and •	
Commercial bids

Representing the Institute as Chair of the Whitehorse •	
Business Group and Board Member of the Whitehorse 
Community Health Centre

Key initiatives and achievements
At Institute level, 2008 key targets for Industry engagement 
were met, while also achieving and exceeding bottom 
line surplus targets. Customer service standards were 
maintained through individual meetings with a variety of 
clients to inform our business planning process and ensure 
that Box Hill Institute’s provision of service is demand 
driven.

Working with Key Enterprise Clients 

Enterprise Services continued in 2008 to work with all 
teaching centres to provide professional services to our 
enterprise clients. The Institute’s loyal customer base 
includes a variety of small, medium to large enterprises. 

Industry Education and training 

The Centre for Industry, Education and Training maintained 
and extended its strong focus on the provision of training 
services, locally, nationally and globally to both enterprises 
and government clients. Training delivery into industry 
achieved all targets. Some significant new initiatives 
included: 

A contract secured with the Ombudsman’s Office, •	
Victoria for the delivery of Certificate IV in Government 

Delivery of Frontline Management units to Manningham  •	
Council

Delivery of Frontline Management- Certificate IV to •	
Eastern Health

ExECutIVE REpoRtS
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labour Market programs

A comprehensive range of labour market programs 
continued to be offered including: 

Box Hill Institute’s Employment Service (Jobs Plus) – a •	
federally funded Job Placement program, listing around 
1,000 vacancies annually.

Student and Graduate Employment – an Institute-funded •	
program for students.

Australian Apprenticeships Centre – operating since •	
1999, a federally funded program, winning the Prime 
Minister’s Award in 2008 for services to Crown Casino. 

Australian Apprenticeship Access Program – a federally •	
funded program for disadvantaged job seekers. Box Hill 
Institute worked closely with Jamie Oliver’s Foundation 
Fifteen to conduct a 10-week pre-apprenticeship course 
for young people with multiple barriers to work. A 
third group started the program in September 2008. 
Workplace English Language and Literacy (WELL) – a 
federally funded initiative helping employees meet their 
employment and training needs. 

Skill up – a State funded early intervention program •	
helping retrenchees return to employment. Box Hill 
Institute has assisted nearly 500 recipients through this 
program.

Eastern Melbourne Skills Store – established in June •	
2007 as a consortium venture between Box Hill Institute 
as lead agent, and MEGT, providing advice and a 
referral service for skills recognition to individuals and 
businesses. It has processed over 2400 enquiries and 
referred more than 1200 clients for Recognition of Prior 
Learning.

Defence Contract 

The Institute delivered Communication, Information 
Systems, Technology, Education and Training (CISTET) to 
the Defence Force School of Signals (DFSS). The scope 
of work includes training delivery (locally at Watsonia 
and Australia wide), curriculum development, resource 
development, and an on site project management team.
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Building and Maintenance
This report provides details of the extent of Box Hill Institute’s compliance with the 
Building Act 1993, as required by the Directions of the Minister for Finance issued under 
Section 8 of the Financial Management Act 1994.

Buildings and Construction Works
Box Hill Institute has a strong focus on meeting regulatory requirements and occupational 
health and safety standards, whilst incorporating environmentally sustainable features 
in the course of providing and maintaining buildings of a high quality, with the intention of 
exceeding the expectations of our students, staff and the general public.

The Institute ensures that, for all works requiring building approval, an independent 
Building Surveyor is engaged to certify plans, issue the required permits, inspect the 
works on a progressive basis, and provide the final occupancy certificates.  Although 
building works to buildings located on land zoned for educational use are exempt from 
requiring Planning Permits, Box Hill Institute ensures that the relevant local council is 
approached for advice on local council provisions and issues during the project planning 
stage.

Box Hill Institute requires contractors and building practitioners engaged on its works to 
provide evidence of correct registration, certificate of currencies for relevant insurance 
policies and WorkCover, on and during their engagement.  All contractors engaged by the 
Institute during 2008 met their required obligations throughout the year.

Building Maintenance 
Periodic Buildings Condition Audits are conducted on each building, as required by 
ministerial guidelines and Box Hill Institute has in place maintenance programmes for the 
buildings, plant and equipment across all Campuses. The Institute is currently developing 
a computerised facilities maintenance management system which will replace the largely 
paper based systems currently employed.

Whistleblowers Protection Act
The Institute’s current policy and procedures relating to the Whistleblowers Protection 
Act 2001 are laid out on the website. There was one protected disclosure in 2008.

CoMplIanCE 
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Any student may see his/her personal record by applying to:

Ms Stephanie tomasetti 
Centre Manager 
Box Hill Institute 
465 Elgar Road, Box Hill 3128 
Telephone: (03) 9286 9396

Any staff member may seek access to his/her personnel 
file by applying to:

Mr Wayne Shevlin  
Executive Manager, Human Resource Services 
Box Hill Institute 
810 Whitehorse Rd Box Hill 3128 
Telephone: (03) 9286 9441

2008 FOI activities
There were no requests for information to be supplied 
under the Freedom of Information Act during the 2008 
reporting period.

Identification of documents
It is the aim of the Freedom of Information Act to make the 
maximum amount of information available to Victorians, 
promptly and inexpensively. Written FOI requests should be 
as specific and precise as possible so they can be processed 
efficiently.

Requests for access must contain sufficient details 
concerning the document(s) to enable the Manager, 
Freedom of Information to identify the document(s) 
requested and should also include the applicant’s telephone 
number and mailing address for contact purposes. The 
applicant may wish to use the request pro-forma available 
from the Freedom of Information Officer. Information about 
the subject and the date of the document sought should be 
indicated as precisely as possible.

Where a request fails to provide the necessary information 
to identify the documents requested, the Freedom of 
Information Officer is obliged to assist the requestor make a 
request which will identify the documents sought.

Office hours and charges
The prescribed $21.50 application fee should accompany 
all requests made under FOI. Where access is granted to 
inspect, obtain or purchase material, arrangements can 
be made during office hours Monday to Friday 9.00am 
– 4.30pm. Charges for access to documents will be in 
accordance with the Freedom of Information (Access 
Charges) Regulations 2004. 

Where a charge is to be levied the applicant will be advised.

photocopying fee 

20 cents per A4 page.

Search fees

When the Institute has to identify and locate documents 
there is a charge of $20 per hour.

Deposits

A deposit of $25 may be requested before the Institute will 
grant access where charges will not exceed $100. If charges 
are expected to exceed $100, a deposit representing 50% of 
the total charge may be requested.

Waiver of Charges

Charges will be waived if the request for access is a routine 
one or if it is for documents containing information about 
the personal affairs of the applicant and the applicant 
is impecunious. Charges (except for a charge for the 
reasonable costs of making copies of documents) will not 
be levied if the applicant’s intended use of the document is 
a use of general public interest or benefit, the applicant is 
a member of one of the houses of the Victorian Parliament 
or the request is for access to document(s) containing 
information relating to the personal affairs of the applicant.

Freedom of Information (FOI) Access Arrangement
Requests under the Freedom of Information Act 1982 for access to documents held by Box Hill Institute 
are received and processed by the Institute Freedom of Information Officer. Requests for documents 
must be in writing and should be addressed to:

Freedom of Information
Box Hill Institute 
465 Elgar Road, Box Hill 3128 
Telephone: (03) 9286 9222

It is Institute policy to facilitate an employee’s access to his/her own file. Requests for access need 
not be made under the Freedom of Information Act. However, if an applicant wishes to gain access to 
documents that are not made available in this way the request must be made formally as a Freedom of 
Information request.
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CoMplIanCE InDEx

This index has been prepared to facilitate identification with Box Hill Institute’s compliance with statutory disclosure 

requirements

  Reg page no. 

 Report of operations

1

The Report of Operations is to include qualitative and quantitative information on operations 
of the Institute and should be prepared on a basis consistent with the financial statements 
prepared pursuant to the Financial Management Act 1994. This report is to provide users with 
information about:
the Institute and its activities;
operational highlights for the reporting period;
future initiatives; and
other relevant information not included in the financial statements. 

4.2 (g)
5-10

20-23

2
The Report of Operations must state they are prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Financial Reporting Directions.

4.2 (h) 68

3
Signature of responsible person - Attestation on compliance with the Australian/new Zealand 
Risk Management Standard.

4.5.5 62

4
Signature of responsible person - the Report of Operations must be signed and dated by the 
Accountable Officer in the case of a government department or, in the case of any other public 
sector agency, a member of the responsible body.

4.2 (j) 12

 general Information

5. Manner of Establishment, including the relevant Minister. 22 3

6.
The Institute’s objectives, functions, powers and duties, linked to a summary of its activities, 
programs and achievements for the reporting period.

22 1-6

7. nature and range of service provision, including the communities served. 22 4

8.
Organisational chart(s) detailing members of the governing board and the CEO, and 
organisational chart(s) detailing occupants of senior offices and their responsibilities.

22 18-19

 governance

9.

Outline of the structure of the board including:
committees of the board;
description of their functions; and 
occupants of each committee

13

10.

Outline of the structure of the board including:
names and qualifications of members of boards including knowledge, experience and skills; 
and
summary of number of meetings attended by each board member.

14-17

11.
Summary of training undertaken by board members throughout the year, including the number 
and type of programs.

17

12.
Brief description of values of the board and whether there is a Code of Conduct used to guide 
decisions of the board, including a summary of performance and activities.

13

13. Statement on work force data for the current and previous reporting periods. 22 44-45

14. Statement on the application of employment and conduct principles. 22 43

15.
Statement on occupational health and safety, including appropriate performance indicators, 
outlining the institute’s performance against such indicators. Institutes should include details of 
assessments and measures taken to improve the occupational health and safety of employees.

22 49

16.
A general statement on industrial relations within the Institute and details of time lost through 
industrial accidents and disputes.

22 43
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 Disclosure Index

17.
The disclosure index is to contain a list identifying the relevant clauses of Victorian legislation, 
including statutory disclosure requirements.

10 58-62

18. A short description of the relevant requirement. 10 58

19. The page in the annual report where satisfaction of the relevant requirement is disclosed. 10 58

20.
Disclosure in aggregate of the nature and amount of any ex-gratia payments incurred and 
written off during the reporting period. This is to be included in the notes to the financial 
statements.

11 99

21.
The name of each person holding a position that meets the definition of responsible person of 
the reporting entity at any time during the reporting period.

21A(1)
(a)

98

22.
Where there is more than one responsible person during any reporting period, the total 
remuneration of all responsible persons received or receivable in connection to their 
employment.

21A(1)
(b)

99

23.
An analysis of remuneration of responsible persons in bands of $10,000, listing the number of 
responsible persons whose actual remuneration for the period falls within each band.

21A(1)
(c)

99

24.

A table disclosing the aggregate amount of related party transactions at the reporting date, 
including but not limited to the aggregate amount of repayments, shares and share options, 
and other sources of remuneration that do not come under the definition of any of the above 
mentioned categories received by the responsible person in addition to base remuneration.

21A(1)
(d)

99

25.

Total remuneration of all executive officers received or receivable in connection to their 
employment including the remuneration of executive officers acting in the position of an 
Accountable Officer at any time during the reporting period. To ensure disclosures for executive 
officer remuneration are meaningful, additional information may need to be disclosed about the 
nature of such remuneration. 

21(2)

(a)
99

26.
Base remuneration should be disclosed separately from actual remuneration. 
Any significant variations between total and base remuneration should be supported by 
explanatory commentary.

21(2)

(b)
99

27.
Accrual principles apply in determining remuneration levels which requires that all amounts 
received or receivable by the individual are disclosed.

21(2)

(c)
98-99

 Financial Information

28. Summary of financial results with comparative information for preceding four years. 22 25-26

29. Summary of significant changes in financial position. 22 25

30.
Summary of operational and budgetary objectives, including performance against objectives 
and significant achievements.

22 24-25

31.
Events subsequent to the balance date which may have a significant affect on operations in 
subsequent years and a summary of major changes affecting the achievement of operational 
objectives.

22 24-25

32.

For each consultancy values in excess of $100,000 set out:
schedule listing the consultants engaged;
summary of project involved;
total project fees approved (excluding GST);
expenditure for the reporting period (excluding GST); and 
future commitments relating to the consultant.

22 26-27

33. Total number of consultancies individually valued at less than $100,000 (exclusive of GST). 22 26-27

34. Total expenditure (exclusive of GST) of these consultancy arrangements. 22 26-27

35. Financial information must be consistent with that included in the financial statements. 22 108-109

36.

The Report of Operations must contain general and financial information, including other 
relevant financial information, outlining and explaining an entity’s operations and activities 
for the reporting period. The Report of Operations should be presented in a format that 
complements the financial report as a whole. The Report of Operations should contain any 
additional information the Accountable Officer or the governing board considers appropriate, or 
any information which has been mandated by other authoritative pronouncements.

22 20-23
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37.

The Report of Operations must include an audited statement of performance including:
the relevant performance targets and indicators as determined by the responsible Minister;
the actual results achieved for that financial year against pre-determined performance targets 
and indicators; 
an explanation of any significant variance between the actual results and performance targets 
and indicators; and the TAFE Statement of Performance Management Certificate.

27
20-23

And 12

 other relevant information

38.
Summary of Application of Freedom of Information Act (1982). (Including amendments of 3 
August 2007).

22 57

39.
Statement on compliance with building and maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993. 
(Including amendments of 1 July 2007).

22 56

40.
Summary of the application and operation of the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001, including 
disclosures required by the Act. (Incorporating amendments of 1 July 2007).

22 56

41.

Statement on implementation and compliance with national Competition Policy, including a 
statement on compliance with policy statements;
“Competitive neutrality: A Statement of Victorian Government Policy”;
“Victorian Government Timetable for the Review of Legislative Restrictions on Competition”; 
and
Any subsequent reforms.

22 27

42. Summary of environmental performance. 22 49

43.
Statement (to the extent applicable information listed in Appendix 1) available on request to the 
relevant Minister, members of Parliament or the public. This includes additional information 
available on request subject to provision of FOI Act.

22 57

44.
Statement that declarations of pecuniary interests have been duly completed by all relevant 
officers.

22 30

45.
Details of shares held by senior officers (as nominees or held beneficially in a statutory 
authority or subsidiary).

22 30

46. Details of publications produced by the entity about itself and how they can be obtained. 22 30

47.
Details of major promotional, public relations and marketing activities undertaken to develop 
community awareness of the Institute and its services.

22 50-51

48. Details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and levies charged by the Institute. 22 27

49. Details of any major external reviews carried out on the Institute. 22 27

50. Details of major research and development activities undertaken by the Institute. 22 27

51.
Details of overseas visits undertaken including a summary of the objectives and outcomes of 
each visit.

22 27

52.
List of major committees sponsored by the Institute, the purposes of each committee and the 
extent to which the purposes have been achieved.

22 27

 overseas operations of Victorian taFE Institute

53.
Financial and other information on initiatives taken or strategies relating to the Institute’s 
international operations.

32-33

auditor general
Recommendation in relation to overseas operations of Victorian taFE institute – 3.110 
auditor general, Special Reviews, 30 June 2002

54.

Information in annual reports that TAFE institutes should include:
nature of strategic and operational risks;
strategies established to manage such risks;
performance measures and targets formulated for off shore operations; and 
extent to which expected outcomes have been achieved.

27

32-33
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55.

Reporting and Performance Information
Reporting and performance information should be presented using Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs):
There are eleven required KPIs:
Participation of 15-24 year olds
Participation of 25-64 year olds
Module Load Completion Rate
Student Satisfaction
Total Cost per Student Contact Hour (SCH)
Working Capital Ratio
net Operating Margin
Fee for Service Revenue
Revenue per EFT Staff
Student Contact Hours (SCH)
Energy Consumption.
Signature of responsible person - A Statement of Performance Management Certificate should 
be completed.

27A 111

 Financial Statements

56. Must contain such information as required by the Minister. 49(a) 68

57. Must be prepared in a manner and form approved by the Minister. 49(b) 63-113

58.
Must present fairly the financial transactions of the department or public body during the 
financial year to which they relate.

49(c) 69

59. Must present fairly the financial position of the department or public body as at the end of that year. 49(d) 69-70

60.
Must be certified by the Accountable Officer for the department or public body in the manner 
approved by the Minister.

49(e) 68

 the financial statements must be prepared in accordance with:

61.
Australian Accounting Standards (AAS and AASB standards) and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements (including urgent issues group consensus views and statements of 
accounting concepts).

4.2 (a) 73

62. Financial reporting directions. 4.2 (a) 73

63. Business rules. 4.2 (a) 73

 the financial statements are to comprise the following:

64. Operating statement. 4.2 (b) 69

65. Balance sheet. 4.2 (b) 70

66. Statement of recognised income and expenses. 4.2 (b) 71

67. Cash flow statement. 4.2 (b) 72

68. notes to the financial statements. 4.2 (b) 73-107

the financial statements must, where applicable, be signed and dated by the accountable 
officer, CFao and a member of the responsible body stating whether, in their opinion:

69.
The financial statements present fairly the financial transactions during the reporting period 
and the financial position at the end of the period.

4.2 (c) 68

70.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with this direction and applicable 
Financial Reporting Directions.

4.2 (c) 68

71.
The financial statements comply with applicable Australian account standards (AAS and AASB 
standards) and other mandatory professional reporting requirements (including urgent issues 
group consensus views and statements of accounting concepts).

4.2 (c) 68

Footnotes

1  Included in other expenses prior to 1st January 2007.

2  From 1st January 2007, the Institute revised its capitalisation threshold for assets to $5,000. In accordance with  
 applicable accounting standards, only prior period comparatives for 2006 have been restated.
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